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Trade name of the notes defined in article D.213-1 of the French monetary and financial code

Guaranteed programme 

INFORMATION MEMORANDUM

Name of the programme ADECCO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL SERVICES 
BV, NEU CP Guaranteed  (Programme ID 1759)

Name of the issuer ADECCO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL SERVICES BV

Type of programme NEU CP

Writing language English

Programme size 500 000 000 EURO

Guarantor(s) Adecco Group AG

Rating(s) of the programme Rated by
STANDARD AND POOR'S INTERNATIONAL

Arranger(s) Société Générale
Introduction advisor Not applicable

Legal advisor Not applicable

Issuing and paying agent(s) (IPA) SOCIETE GENERALE

Dealer(s) BNP PARIBAS
CREDIT INDUSTRIEL ET COMMERCIAL
ING BANK NV
NATIXIS
SOCIETE GENERALE

Date of the information memorandum (dd/mm/yyyy) 15/06/2021

Drawn up pursuant to articles L. 213-0-1 to L. 213-4-1 of the French monetary and financial code

A copy of the information memorandum is sent to:

BANQUE DE FRANCE
Direction générale de la stabilité financière et des opérations (DGSO)

Direction de la mise en œuvre de la politique monétaire (DMPM)
S2B-1134 Service des Titres de Créances Négociables (STCN)

39, rue Croix des Petits Champs
75049 PARIS CEDEX 01

The Banque de France invites investors to read the general terms and conditions for the use of 
information related to negotiable debt securities:

https://www.banque-france.fr/politique-monetaire/surveillance-et-developpement-des-financements-de-marche-marche-neu-cp-neu-mtn/le-
marche-des-titres-negociables-court-et-moyen-terme-neu-cp-neu-mtn

Information marked « Optional » may not be provided by the issuer
because French regulations do not require it
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Programme Language

Avertissement: cette documentation financière étant rédigée dans une langue usuelle en matière financière autre 
que le français, l’émetteur invite l’investisseur, le cas échéant, à recourir à une traduction en français de cette 
documentation.

Translation:

Warning: as this information memorandum is issued in a customary language in the financial sphere other than 
French, the issuer invites the investor, when appropriate, to resort to a French translation of this documentation. 
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1. DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUANCE PROGRAMME

Articles D. 213-9, 1° and D 213-11 of the French monetary and financial code and Article 6 of the Order of 
30 May 2016 and subsequent amendments

1.1 Name of the programme ADECCO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL SERVICES BV, 
NEU CP Guaranteed  (Programme ID 1759)

1.2 Type of programme NEU CP

1.3 Name of the issuer ADECCO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL SERVICES BV

1.4 Type of issuer Non-financial company under the conditions set out in art. L 
213-3.2 of the French Monetary and Financial Code

1.5 Purpose of the programme
In order to meet the general funding needs of ADECCO 
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL SERVICES BV (the Issuer) its 
subsidiaries and companies belonging to the same group of 
companies and under the same controlling interest, the 
Issuer will issue from time to time Notes, in accordance with 
Articles L 213-1A to L 213-4-1 of the French monetary and 
financial code and all applicable regulations.

1.6 Programme size (maximum 
outstanding amount)

500 000 000 EURO
five hundred million EURO or any other currency authorized 
by applicable laws and regulations in force in France at the 
time of the issue

1.7 Form of the notes
The Notes are Negotiable Debt Securities (Titres 
négociables à court terme) (“Notes”), issued in bearer form 
and recorded in the books of authorized intermediaries (book 
entry system) in accordance with French laws and 
regulations.

1.8 Yield basis Compensation type(s)  :
Unrestricted

Compensation rules(s) :

The remuneration of the NEU CP is free. However, the 
Issuer undertakes to inform the Banque de France if the 
remuneration is linked to an index or varies in application of 
an indexation clause which does not relate to a usual 
interbank, money or bond market rate.

The Programme also allows for the issuance of NEU CPs 
whose remuneration may be linked to an indexation formula 
that does not guarantee the repayment of the capital at 
maturity. The issuer's confirmation of such an issue will 
explicitly mention the redemption formula and the fraction of 
the capital guaranteed.

In the case of an issue with a possibility of early redemption, 
extension or repurchase, the terms of remuneration of the 
NEU CP will be fixed at the initial issue and may not be 
modified at a later date, in particular at the extension or 
repurchase.

The Issuer may not issue Notes with potentially variable 
principal payments.

NEU CP issues will be subject to unconditional at par 
redemption.

1.9 Currencies of issue  Euro or any other currency authorized by applicable laws 
and regulations in force in France at the time of the issue
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1.10 Maturity
The NEU CP may be redeemed before maturity in 
accordance with the laws and regulations applicable in 
France. The Notes issued under the NEU CP may carry one 
or more embedded option(s) of extension of the term (held 
by either the Issuer or the holder, or linked to one or several 
events not related to either the Issuer or the holder).

The Notes issued under the NEU CP may also carry one or 
more embedded option(s) of repurchase before the term 
(held by either the Issuer or the holder, or linked to one or 
several events not related to either the Issuer or the holder).

An option of early redemption, extension or repurchase of 
Notes, if any, shall be explicitly specified in the confirmation 
form of any related issuance of Notes.

In any case, the overall maturity of any Notes embedded with 
one or several of such clauses, shall always - all options of 
early redemption, extension or repurchase included – 
conform to laws and regulations in force in France at the time 
of the issue.

The term (maturity date) of the commercial paper shall be 
determined in accordance with laws and regulations 
applicable in France, which imply that, at the date hereof, the 
term of the commercial paper shall not be longer than one 
year (365 days or 366 days in a leap year), from the issue 
date

1.11 Minimum issuance amount 200 000 EURO or any other amount above the stated value 
(or equivalent amount in the relevant foreign currency)

1.12 Minimum denomination of the notes By virtue of regulation (Article D 213-11 of the French 
monetary and financial code), the legal minimum face value 
of the commercial paper within the framework of this 
program is 200 000 euros or the equivalent in the currencies 
selected at the time of issuance

1.13 Status of the notes Senior Unsecured

1.14 Governing law that applies to the 
programme Any Notes under the NEU CP will be governed by French 

law.

All potential disputes related to the issuance of the Notes 
shall be governed and construed according to French Law.

1.15 Listing of the notes/Admission to 
trading on a regulated market

None

1.16 Settlement system The Notes will be issued in Euroclear France.

1.17 Rating(s) of the programme STANDARD AND POOR'S INTERNATIONAL : https://
disclosure.spglobal.com/ratings/en/regulatory/org-details/
sectorCode/CORP/entityId/399543

Ratings can be reviewed at any time by the rating agencies. 
Investors are invited to refer to the websites of the agencies 
concerned for the current rating

1.18 Guarantor The programme is guaranteed by :
Adecco Group AG

Type of guarantee : 
1st request

Applicable law : 
SWITZERLAND

Guarantee information : 
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Under the Guarantee attached hereto, in accordance with the 
terms and subject to the limitations thereof, ADECCO 
GROUP AG unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees at 
first demand payment of all amounts due in respect of the 
Notes issued by ADECCO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
SERVICES BV.

 

The Guarantee is a Swiss law governed guarantee and is 
granted on a voluntary basis. This Guarantee may not 
comply with the criteria of Article D.213-5 of the French 
Monetary and Financial Code. The holders of Negotiable 
European Commercial Paper issued under the NEU CP 
Programme do not benefit from an unconditional, at first 
demand guarantee (garantie inconditionnelle à première 
demande) within the meaning of Article D.213-5 of the 
French Monetary and Financial Code. The Banque de 
France isn’t competent as to Swiss law and doesn’t take 
responsibility for any assessment of the validity of Adecco 
Group AG undertaking under the Guarantee.

1.19 Issuing and Paying Agent(s) (IPA) - 
exhaustive list -

SOCIETE GENERALE

1.20 Arranger Société Générale

1.21 Placement method Dealer(s) :
BNP PARIBAS
CREDIT INDUSTRIEL ET COMMERCIAL
ING BANK NV
NATIXIS
SOCIETE GENERALE

The Issuer may subsequently elect to replace any dealer, 
insure the placement himself, or appoint other dealers; an 
updated list of such dealers shall be disclosed to investors 
upon request to the Issuer

1.22 Selling restrictions
General selling restrictions

No action has been taken or will be taken by the Issuer, each 
Dealer, any initial subscriber and any further holder of the 
Notes issued under the NEU CP that would or is intended to 
permit a public offering of the Notes or the possession or 
distribution of the Information memorandum or any other 
document relating to the Notes in any country or jurisdiction 
where action for that purpose is required.

 

The Issuer, each Dealer, any initial subscriber and any 
further holder of the Notes has undertaken, to the extent 
possible, to the best of its knowledge, to comply with all 
applicable laws and regulations in force in any country or 
jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers or sells the Notes or 
possesses or distributes the Information memorandum or 
any other document relating to the Notes and to obtain any 
consent, approval or permission required by it for the 
purchase, offer or sale of Notes under the laws and 
regulations in force in any jurisdiction to which it is subject or 
in which it will make such purchases offers or sales and 
neither the Issuer, nor any Dealer nor any initial subscriber 
nor any further holder shall have responsibility therefore.

 

None of the Issuer, any Dealer, any initial subscriber or any 
further holder of the Notes will either offer, sell or deliver, 
directly or indirectly, any Notes or distribute the Information 
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memorandum or any other document relating to the Notes in 
or from any country or jurisdiction except under 
circumstances that will result in the compliance with any 
applicable laws and regulations and which will not impose 
any obligations on the Issuer.

 

 

Belgium

With regard to Notes having a maturity of less than 12 
months (and which therefore fall outside the scope of the 
Prospectus Directive), this Information memorandum has not 
been, and it is not expected that it will be, submitted for 
approval to the Belgian Banking, Finance and Insurance 
Commission. Accordingly, each Dealer has represented and 
agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the NEU 
CP will be required to represent and agree, that it shall 
refrain from taking any action that would be characterised as 
or result in a public offering of Notes in Belgium in 
accordance with the Prospectus Law on public offerings of 
investment instruments and the admission of investment 
instruments to trading on regulated markets, as amended or 
replaced from time to time.

 

France

 

The Issuer, each Dealer, any initial subscriber or any further 
holder, of the Notes will be deemed to have represented and 
agreed on the date on which he purchases the Notes, to 
comply with applicable laws and regulations in force 
regarding the offer, the placement or the re-sale of the Notes 
or the distribution of documents with respect thereto, in 
France.

 

 

Germany

 

No selling restriction for maturity of less than 12 months.

 

 

Ireland

 

The Issuer, each Dealer, initial subscriber, or further holder 
of the Notes represents and agrees that:

 

it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions 
of the European Communities (Markets in Financial 
Instruments) Regulations 2008 of Ireland, as amended, with 
respect to anything done by it in relation to the Notes or 
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operating in, or otherwise involving, Ireland and is acting 
under and within the terms of an authorisation to do so for 
the purposes of Directive 2004/39/EC of the European 
Parliament and of the Council of May 21, 2004 and it has 
complied with any applicable codes of conduct or practice 
made pursuant to implementing measures in respect of the 
foregoing Directive in any relevant jurisdiction;

 

it will not underwrite the issue of, or place, the Notes, 
otherwise than in conformity with the provisions of the Irish 
Central Bank Acts, 1942 - 2004 (as amended); and

 

it has only issued or passed on, and will only issue or pass 
on, in Ireland, any document received by it in connection with 
the issue of Notes to persons who are persons to whom the 
document may otherwise be lawfully be issued or passed on;

 

 

Italy

The offering of the Notes has not been registered pursuant to 
Italian securities legislation and, accordingly, no Notes may 
be offered, sold or delivered, nor may copies of the 
Information memorandum or of any other document relating 
to the Notes be distributed in the Republic of Italy, except: 

 

(a)      to qualified investors (investitori qualificati), as defined 
pursuant to Article 100 of Legislative Decree No. 58 of 
February 24, 1998, as amended (the Financial Services 
Act) and Article 34-ter, first paragraph, letter (b) of CONSOB 
Regulation No. 11971 of May 14, 1999, as amended from 
time to time (Regulation No. 11971); or

 

(b)      in other circumstances which are exempted from the 
rules on public offerings pursuant to Article 100 of the 
Financial Services Act and Article 34-ter of Regulation No. 
11971.

 

Any offer, sale or delivery of the Notes or distribution of 
copies of the Information memorandum or any other 
document relating to the Notes in the Republic of Italy under 
(a) or (b) above must be:

 

(i)       made by an investment firm, bank or financial 
intermediary permitted to conduct such activities in the 
Republic of Italy in accordance with the Financial Services 
Act, CONSOB Regulation No. 16190 of October 29, 2008 (as 
amended from time to time) and Legislative Decree No. 385 
of September 1, 1993, as amended (the Banking Act); and

 

(ii)      in compliance with Article 129 of the Banking Act, as 
amended, and the implementing guidelines of the Bank of 
Italy, as amended from time to time, pursuant to which the 
Bank of Italy may request information on the issue or the 
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offer of securities in the Republic of Italy; and

 

(iii)      in compliance with any other applicable laws and 
regulations or requirements imposed by CONSOB or other 
Italian authority.

 

 

Japan

 

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the 
Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (Law No. 
25 of 1948, as amended; the “FIEA”). The Issuer, each 
Dealer, any initial subscriber or any further holder, of the 
Notes has represented and agreed that it has not offered or 
sold and will not offer or sell any Notes, directly or indirectly, 
in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (as 
defined under Item 5, Paragraph 1, Article 6 of the Foreign 
Exchange and Foreign Trade Control Act (Law N°. 228 of 
1949, as amended)), or to others for re-offering or resale, 
directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, a 
resident of Japan, except pursuant to an exemption from the 
registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance 
with, the FIEA and any other applicable laws, regulations and 
ministerial guidelines of Japan.

 

 

The Netherlands

Each Dealer under the NEU CP represents and agrees and 
each further Dealer appointed under the NEU CP will be 
required to represent and agree, that:

(b)          Notes offered, as part of their initial distribution or 
by way of re-offering, in The Netherlands shall have a 
denomination of at least Euro 50,000 (or the equivalent in 
another currency); or

(c)          regardless of their denomination, the Notes can only 
be acquired by investors as part of their initial distribution or 
by way of re-offering in the Netherlands, in units comprising 
several Notes (each a Unit) against a purchase price of at 
least Euro 50,000 (or the equivalent in other currency) per 
unit; or

(d)          any Notes that do not fall under category (a) or (b) 
above, may not be offered, sold, transferred or delivered, 
directly or indirectly, as part of their initial distribution or at 
any time thereafter to individuals or legal entities in The 
Netherlands other than to qualified investors (gekwalificeerde 
beleggers) within the meaning of The Netherlands Financial 
Markets Supervision Act (Wet op het financieel toezicht, the 
"FMSA") provided they acquire the Notes for their own 
account and provided that all such Notes bear a legend to 
the following effect:

"THIS Note (OR ANY INTEREST THEREIN) MAY NOT BE 
SOLD, TRANSFERRED OR DELIVERED TO INDIVIDUALS 
OR LEGAL ENTITIES IN THE NETHERLANDS OTHER 
THAN QUALIFIED INVESTORS WITHIN THE MEANING OF 
THE NETHERLANDS FINANCIAL MARKETS 
SUPERVISION ACT (WET OP HET FINANCIEEL 
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TOEZICHT, THE "FMSA") (AS AMENDED).

EACH HOLDER OF THIS Note (OR ANY INTEREST 
THEREIN), BY PURCHASING THIS Note (OR ANY 
INTEREST THEREIN), WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE 
REPRESENTED AND AGREED FOR THE BENEFIT OF 
THE ISSUER THAT (1) IT IS A QUALIFIED INVESTOR 
AND IS ACQUIRING THIS Note (OR ANY INTEREST 
THEREIN) FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT OR FOR THE 
ACCOUNT OF A QUALIFIED INVESTOR, THAT (2) THIS 
Note (OR ANY INTEREST THEREIN) MAY NOT BE 
OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE 
TRANSFERRED TO ANYONE ANYWHERE IN THE 
WORLD OTHER THAN A QUALIFIED INVESTOR 
ACQUIRING FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT OR FOR THE 
ACCOUNT OF A QUALIFIED INVESTOR AND THAT (3) IT 
WILL PROVIDE NOTICE OF THE TRANSFER 
RESTRICTIONS DESCRIBED HEREIN TO ANY 
SUBSEQUENT TRANSFEREE".

 

United Kingdom

 

The Issuer, each Dealer, any initial subscriber has 
represented and agreed and any further holder of the Notes 
will be required to represent and agree, that:

 

(a)                (i) it is a person whose ordinary activities involve 
it in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments 
(as principal or agent) for the purposes of its business, and

 

(ii) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any 
Notes to anyone other than to persons whose ordinary 
activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or 
disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the 
purposes of their businesses, or who it is reasonable to 
expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments 
(as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses 
where the issue of Notes would otherwise constitute a 
contravention of section 19 of the FSMA by the Issuer;

 

(b)                it has only communicated or caused to be 
communicated and will only communicate or cause to be 
communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in 
investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of the 
FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of 
any Notes in circumstances in which section 21(1) of the 
FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and

 

(c)                it has complied and will comply with all 
applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything 
done by it in relation to such Notes in, from or otherwise 
involving the United Kingdom.

 

 

United States

 

The NEU CP has not been and will not be registered under 
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the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities 
Act"), or any other laws or regulations of any state of the 
United States of America, and may not be offered or sold 
within the United States of America, or to, or for the account 
or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in accordance with 
Regulation S under the Securities Act) except in certain 
transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the 
Securities Act.

 

The Issuer, each Dealer and any initial subscriber have 
represented and agreed, and any further holder of the Notes 
will be required to represent and agree, that they have not 
offered, sold or delivered, and will not offer, sell or deliver, 
whether directly or indirectly, any Notes within the United 
States of America or to, or for the account or benefit of, any 
U.S. person

           (a)       as part of their distribution at any time, and

           (b)       otherwise until the day immediately following 
40 days after the later of (y) the day on which such Notes are 
first offered and (z) the issue date of such Notes (the 
"Distribution Compliance Period"). In addition, until the 
conclusion of the Distribution Compliance Period, an offer or 
sale of Notes within the United States by the Issuer, any 
Dealer, any initial subscriber or any further holder of the 
Notes, whether or not participating in the offering, may 
violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

 

The Issuer, each Dealer and any initial subscriber have also 
agreed, and any further holder of the Notes will be required 
to agree, that they will send to each distributor, initial 
subscriber or person to which they sell the Notes during the 
Distribution Compliance Period a notice setting out the 
selling and offering restrictions of the Notes in the United 
States of America or to, or for the account or benefit of U.S. 
persons.

 

The Notes will be offered and sold only outside the United 
States to persons other than U.S. persons (as defined in 
accordance with Regulation S under the Securities Act).

1.23 Taxation 
The Issuer is not bound to indemnify any holder of the Notes 
in case of taxes which are payable under French law or any 
other foreign law in respect of the principal of, or the interest 
on, the Notes, except for any stamp or registration taxes 
payable by the Issuer under French law.

1.24 Involvement of national authorities Banque de France

1.25 Contact(s) Backoffice.Treasury@adecco.com
legal@adeccogroup.com

10

mailto:Backoffice.Treasury@adecco.com
mailto:legal@adeccogroup.com


1.26 Additional information on the 
programme Updates

 

The Issuer shall update in due time the Information 
memorandum in accordance with the legal laws and 
regulations applicable for rated programmes of Negotiable 
European NEU CP (NEU CP).

 

Annual update

The Issuer shall update each year its Information 
memorandum within 45 days following the shareholders’ 
annual general meeting, or the equivalent body, voting on 
the accounts for the last financial year.

 

Permanent update

The Issuer shall immediately update its Information 
memorandum following any change to the Notes under this 
NEU CP relating to:

• the maximum amount of its outstanding Notes issues;

• its rating;

• the IPA;

• any new circumstance which may have a significant effect 
on the Notes or on the outcome of the issue programme.

 

Communication

 

The Issuer shall, in accordance with applicable laws and 
regulations, immediately and free of charge, provide its 
Information Memorandum and its updates to the entities 
involved in the implementation of its NEU CP such as:

• IPA

• Intermediaries for the purchase and sale of the Notes and 
any person who requests them.

 

The Issuer shall communicate immediately each update to 
the Banque de France.

1.27 Language of the information 
memorandum which prevails

English
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2.A DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER

Article D. 213-9, 2° of the French monetary and financial code and Article 7, 3° of the Order of 30 May 2016 
and subsequent amendments

2.A.1 Legal name ADECCO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL SERVICES BV

2.A.2 Legal form/status, governing law of 
the issuer and competent courts

Legal form/status :
Public limited company under Dutch law

Governing law of the issuer :
Non-financial company under the conditions set out in art. L 213-
3.2 of the French Monetary and Financial Code

Additional information regarding the governing law : 
The Issuer is established in Utrecht as a private limited liability 
company according to Dutch Law.

It is incorporated under Dutch Law and is subject to the 
jurisdiction of the courts of the Netherlands.

Competent courts :
Court of the Netherlands

2.A.3 Date of incorporation 01/03/2006

2.A.4 Registered office or equivalent 
(legal address) and main 
administrative office

Registered office :
Hogeweg 123
5301 LL
Zaltbommel
NETHERLANDS

2.A.5 Registration number, place of 
registration and LEI

Registration number : in  Utrecht  with  Registration Number 
30212925

LEI : 549300PDNGPM4PIAUK57

2.A.6 Issuer’s mission summary The company purpose of ADECCO INTERNATIONAL 
FINANCIAL SERVICES BV is:

a. to take out monetary loans and/or issue bonds and/or 
otherwise raise moneys and/or otherwise enter into financial 
transactions, to provide security for a debt and to commit itself 
as guarantor or joint and several debtor for or to guarantee 
performance by a subsidiary, a legal entity in which the 
Company participates, a company or an enterprise with which it 
is associated in a group or by any other party;

b. to incorporate, participate in, co-operate with, conduct the 
management of, render services to and finance other 
enterprises and legal entities of Adecco Group;

c. to perform anything that may be connected with or may be 
conductive to the foregoing, to be interpreted in the widest 
sense.

2.A.7 Brief description of current 
activities

As mentioned on page 3 of the 2020 ADECCO 
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL SERVICES BV Annual Report, 
the principal activity of the Issuer is to act as finance company 
for Adecco Group, including the entry into loans and/or 
otherwise attracting funds and/or otherwise engaging in financial 
transactions. Detailed information about the Issuer's financing 
activities can be found on page 135-137 of the 2020 ADECCO 
GROUP AG Annual Report.
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2.A.8 Capital 12,500,000.00 EURO

Decomposition of the capital : 
Authorized share capital divided in 12,500 shares of nominal 
value Euro 1,000 each.

2.A.8.1 Amount of capital subscribed and 
fully paid

2,500,000.00 EURO

2.A.8.2 Amount of capital subscribed and 
not fully paid

Not applicable

2.A.9 List of main shareholders References to the relevant pages of the annual report or 
reference document :
Page 3 of the 2020 ADECCO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
SERVICES BV Annual Report

Shareholders :
Adecco Group AG (100.00 %)

2.A.10 Regulated markets on which the 
shares or debt securities of the 
issuer are listed

Regulated markets on which the debt securities are listed :
London Stock Exchange

Longest-Last Maturity Date for debt securities listed on the 
Regulated Market :
29/08/2030

2.A.11 Composition of governing bodies 
and supervisory bodies

References to the relevant pages of the annual report where the 
composition of governing bodies and supervisory bodies is 
provided :
Pages 7 of the 2020 ADECCO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
SERVICES BV Annual Report

2.A.12 Accounting method for 
consolidated accounts (or failing 
that, for the annual accounts)

Accounting method for annual accounts :
Dutch GAAP

2.A.13 Accounting year Starting on 01/01 ending on 31/12

2.A.13.1 Date of the last general annual 
meeting of shareholders (or 
equivalent thereof) which has ruled 
on the last financial year accounts

01/04/2021

2.A.14 Fiscal year Starting on 01/01 ending on 31/12

2.A.15 Auditors of the issuer, who have 
audited the issuer’s annual 
accounts

2.A.15.1 Auditors Holder(s) :
BDO Audit & Assurance B.V.
Krijgsman 9
1186 DM Amstelveen

2.A.15.2 Auditors report on the accuracy of 
the accounting and financial 
information 

Pages 28-32 Independent auditor's report 2020 in the 2020 
ADECCO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL SERVICES BV Annual 
Report

Pages 26-30 Independent auditor's report 2019 in the 2019 
ADECCO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL SERVICES BV Annual 
Report

2.A.16 Other equivalent programmes of the 
issuer

none

2.A.17 Rating of the issuer Optional

2.A.18 Additional information on the issuer Optional
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2.B DESCRIPTION OF THE GUARANTOR 

Article D. 213-9, 2° of the French monetary and financial code and Article 7, 3° of the Order of 30 May 2016 
and subsequent amendments

2.B.1 Legal name Adecco Group AG

2.B.2 Legal form/status, governing law of 
the guarantor and competent 
courts

Legal form/status :
Simplified stock company under Swiss law

Governing law of the guarantor :
Public sector company under the conditions set out in art. L 213-
3.3 of the French Monetary and Financial Code

Competent courts :
Courts of Switzerland

2.B.3 Date of incorporation 18/05/1967

2.B.4 Registered office or equivalent 
(legal address) and main 
administrative office

Registered office :
Bellerivestrasse 30
8008
Zürich
SWITZERLAND

2.B.5 Registration number, place of 
registration and LEI

Registration number : CHE-107.031.232

LEI : NI14Y5UMU60O7JE9P611

2.B.6 Guarantor’s mission summary Adecco Group AG's purpose is the acquisition and holding of 
securities and stocks, under whatsoever form legally valid, in 
any and all service provider companies, trading companies, 
financial and industrial companies, both in Switzerland and in 
foreign countries and, particularly, HR services provider 
companies, inspection and control and consulting services 
companies.
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2.B.7 Brief description of current 
activities

(3°, Article D. 213-9 of the French monetary and financial code)

Adecco Group AG is the holding company of Adecco Group 
(Adecco). Registered and headquartered in Switzerland, Adecco 
is the world's leading provider of HR solutions. With over 30,000 
FTE employees and around 4,800 offices, in 60 countries and 
territories around the world, Adecco Group offers a wide variety 
of services, connecting more than 600,000 colleagues with its 
clients every day. The services offered fall into the broad 
categories of temporary staffing, permanent placement, career 
transition and talent development, and outsourcing. Adecco 
Group is a Fortune Global 500 company.

Adecco Group AG results from a fusion absorption between 
Adecco SA and Adecco Management & Consulting SA effective 
from 28 April 2016.

Revenues for Adecco Group AG in 2020 were EUR 19,561 
million, which 84% attributed to general staffing and 16% 
corresponding to permanent placement, outsourcing, career 
transition, and other services.

Detailed information about the Guarantor's business activity can 
be found on pages 2 and 3 of the 2020 Annual Report of 
ADECCO GROUP AG.

2.B.8 Capital 16,312,417.70 Swiss Franc
14,850,000.00 EURO

Decomposition of the capital : 
163'124'177 ordinary shares of 0.10 CHF of par value each.

2.B.8.1 Amount of capital subscribed and 
fully paid

14,850,000.00 EURO

2.B.8.2 Amount of capital subscribed and 
not fully paid

Not applicable

2.B.9 List of main shareholders References to the relevant pages of the annual report or 
reference document :
The main shareholders of the Guarantor, as of December 2020, 
are listed on pages 76 and 77 of the 2020 ADECCO GROUP AG 
Annual Report.

2.B.10 Regulated markets on which the 
shares or debt securities of the 
guarantor are listed

Regulated markets on which the shares are listed :
SIX Swiss Exchange in Zurich

Regulated markets on which the debt securities are listed :
SIX Swiss Exchange in Zurich

2.B.11 Composition of governing bodies 
and supervisory bodies

References to the relevant pages of the annual report where the 
composition of governing bodies and supervisory bodies is 
provided :
page 79 of the 2020 Annual Report of ADECCO GROUP AG: 
Jean-Christophe Deslarzes, Chairman
Kathleen Taylor, Vice-Chairman
David Prince
Alexander Gut
Didier Lamouche
Ariane Gorin
Regular Wallimann
Rachel Duan
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2.B.12 Accounting method for 
consolidated accounts (or failing 
that, for the annual accounts)

Accounting method for consolidated accounts :
US GAAP

Accounting method for annual accounts :
Swiss Code of Obligations (SCO).

2.B.13 Accounting year Starting on 01/01 ending on 31/12

2.B.13.1 Date of the last general annual 
meeting of shareholders (or 
equivalent thereof) which has ruled 
on the last financial year accounts

09/04/2021

2.B.14 Fiscal year Starting on 02/01 ending on 01/01

2.B.15 Auditors of the guarantor, who 
have audited the  guarantor’s 
annual accounts

2.B.15.1 Auditors Holder(s) :
Ernst & Young Ltd
Maagplatz 1
8005 Zurich

2.B.15.2 Auditors report on the accuracy of 
the accounting and financial 
information 

The Auditor's opinions appear on:

1- Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Consolidated Financial
Statements (pages 160 & 161 of the 2020 Annual Report of
ADECCO GROUP AG)

2- Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Financial Statements
(pages 174 & 175 of the 2020 Annual Report of ADECCO
GROUP AG).

3- Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Consolidated Financial
Statements (pages 147 & 148 of the 2019 Annual Report of
ADECCO GROUP AG)

4- Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Financial Statements
(pages 161 & 162 of the 2019 Annual Report of ADECCO
GROUP AG).

2.B.16 Other equivalent programmes of 
the guarantor

none

2.B.17 Rating of the guarantor STANDARD AND POOR'S INTERNATIONAL : 
https://disclosure.spglobal.com/ratings/en/regulatory/search-
result

MOODY'S :
https://www.moodys.com

2.B.18 Additional information on the 
guarantor

None

3. CERTIFICATION OF INFORMATION

Articles D. 213-5 et D. 213-9, 4°of the French monetary and financial code and subsequent amendments
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APPENDICES
Further to articles D.213-9 of the French monetary and financial code and L.232-23 of the French 

commercial code, financial information mentioned in Article D213-9 of the French monetary and financial 
code should be made available to any person upon request

Appendice 1 Documents available to the 
shareholders annual general 
meeting or the equivalent²

Annual general meeting 2021 

Annual general meeting 2020 
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Guarantee 

 

ADECCO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL SERVICES B.V, a Dutch private liability company (“Besloten 

vennootschap”), incorporated on March 1st 2006, with registration number 30212925, and inscribed 

in Utrecht, the Netherlands, with corporate address at Hogeweg 123, 5301 LL Zaltbommel, The 

Netherlands, with an issued capital of € 2,500,000 (hereinafter the “Issuer”). 

 The Issuer shall issue Notes under a Commercial Paper Programme denominated 

“ADECCO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL SERVICES BV, Negotiable European Commercial Paper (NEU 

CP)” (hereinafter the “Programme”) in the maximum amount of Euro 500,000,000 as described in the 

Information memorandum (financial documentation) in respect of the Programme as it may be from 

time to time amended or updated. ADECCO GROUP AG, a Swiss Private Limited company (“Société 

Anonyme”) incorporated on May 18th, 1967 with registration number CHE-107.031.232, with 

corporate address at Saegereistrasse 10, CH-8152 Glattbrugg, Switzerland, hereinafter the 

“Guarantor”, in accordance with the terms set forth herein, assumes the unconditional and 

irrevocable guarantee (hereinafter, the “Guarantee”) for the due payment of first demand of the 

amounts payable under any Notes issued and outstanding from time to time by the Issuer under and 

in accordance with the Programme. 

 The intent and purpose of this Guarantee is to ensure that the holders of the Notes 

under all circumstances, whether factual or legal, and regardless of the motives or considerations by 

reason of which the Issuer may fail to effect payment, shall receive the amounts payable under the 

Notes, when and as the Notes become due and payable (hereinafter the “Due Dates”) upon receipt 

of a duly signed request for payment by the holder(s) of Notes stating that an amount equivalent to 

the amount claimed under this Guarantee has remained unpaid by the Issuer. Accordingly, upon first 

request, the Guarantor undertakes to effect all necessary payments without any limitation if the 

Issuer for whatsoever reason fails to effect payment on the Due Dates. 

 The obligations arising from this Guarantee will not be affected in any respect by the 

change of the legal form of the Issuer or by a change of control. 

 The rights and obligations arising from this Guarantee shall be governed exclusively by 

the Laws of Switzerland. Place, venue and exclusive jurisdiction are reserved for the Courts of Zurich. 

 Glattbrugg, 18 July 2016 

 

 Adecco Group AG 

  

 Patrick Kleffel      Jörg Salmini 

 General Counsel      Group Treasurer 

 

 



Certification of the guarantee 

Mr. André van der Toorn and Mrs. Estefania Rodriguez certify that, pursuant to 

Article 6 of the Order of 30 May 2016 implementing Decree N° 2016-707 of 30 

May 2016, that the attached copy of the deed of guarantee complies with the 

original deed of guarantee issued on 18 July 2016 for a maximum amount of Euro 

500,000,000 by Adecco Group AG in favour of Adecco International Financial 

Services B.V. in the purpose of its French negotiable debt securities programme 

(Negotiable European NEU CP).  

Zurich, 27 May 2021 

Adecco Group AG 

_________________ ________________ 

André van der Toorn Estefania Rodriguez 

Head of Group Treasury Head of Group Tax  
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT 2020 
 

General information 
Adecco International Financial Services B.V. (the ‘Company’) was incorporated on March 1, 2006 as a private 
limited liability company, with its registered seat in Utrecht, the Netherlands, having its head office at 
Hogeweg 123, 5301 LL Zaltbommel, the Netherlands. Registered with the Chamber of Commerce with 
number: 30212925. The Company is governed by the Netherlands law. 
 
The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Adecco Group AG, Zurich, Switzerland. Adecco Group AG is 
registered in Switzerland and listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange. 
 
The principal activity of the Company is to act as finance company of the Group. 
 
The Company has performed an impact study in association with its external legal partner on the reporting 
obligations in relation to the Brexit and has concluded that the Company is not being impacted by the Brexit. 
No direct business is done with the UK, except for the listing of the Company’s bonds on the London Stock 
Exchange (LSE) for which reporting obligations have been reviewed in relation to the Brexit.  
 

Financial statements 
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis in conformity with Part 9 of book 2 
of the Dutch Civil Code.  
 
The financial statements of the Company will be filed at the Trade Register of the Chamber of Commerce in 
Utrecht, the Netherlands, after adoption by the General Meeting of Shareholders. 
 

Company operations 
The Company is engaged in financing and investment activities for the Adecco Group and obtains funds 
through loans via external banking and capital markets.  
 
Bonds 
Under the Group’s Euro Medium Term Notes (EMTN) program the Company has issued the following bonds:  
 

Amount of Bond Year issuance Year maturing Interest rate Effective interest rate Issuance price 

EUR 500,000,000 2015 2022 1.500% 1.509% 99.939% 

EUR 500,000,000 2016 2024 1.000% 1.110% 99.162% 

USD 300,000,000 * 2017 2021 2.625% 2.803% 99.334% 

EUR 300,000,000 2019 2029 1.250% 1.307% 99.446% 

NOK 500,000,000 ** 2020 2030 2.650% 2.700% 100% 

* USD 300,000,000 (equivalent to EUR 254,569,500 as per December 31, 2020 revalued balance, 267,558,600 as per December 31, 2019 revalued 

balance). 

** NOK 500,000,000 (equivalent to EUR 47,706,000 as per December 31, 2020 revalued balance).  

 
The proceeds of the bond issuances have been used for general financing purposes of the Adecco Group or 
for refinancing purposes of the Adecco Group. 
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As presented in the table above the Company issued on May 29, 2020 senior unsecured fixed rate bond 
denominated in NOK in a private placement for NOK 500,000,000. The bond is guaranteed by Adecco Group 
AG, the parent company and will mature on August 29, 2030.  
 
The interest is paid on the fixed rate bond annually on August 29 in arrears at a fixed annual rate of 2.650% 
(starting from 2021 with a coupon of NOK 16,562,500 in 2021 and NOK 13,250,000 thereafter). The net 
proceeds from the issue of the fixed rate bond were used for general financing purposes of the Adecco Group.  
All bonds are listed at the London Stock Exchange, United Kingdom.  
 
Loans and commercial paper 
Interest income from Adecco Group companies and other financing income amount to EUR 34.3 million in 
2020 (2019: EUR 40.1 million), and interest expenses on the issued securities and other financial expenses 
amount to EUR 33.2 million in 2020 (2019: EUR 39.5 million). The net profit amounts to EUR 1.1 million in 
2020 (2019: profit of EUR 0.2 million).  
 
In April 2020, the Company issued EUR 25 million commercial paper as part of the French, so called ‘NEU CP’ 
Commercial Paper Program. Under this program the Company may issue short-term commercial paper up to 
a maximum of EUR 500 million, with maturity of individual papers of 365 days or less. In order to test the 
financial market in the uncertain times of COVID-19 at that time the Company issued commercial paper on  
April 1, 2020 with a maturing date on May 4, 2020.  
 
Guarantee 
As described above, the Company is a subsidiary of Adecco Group AG and serves as a funding entity for the 
benefit of the Adecco Group. Accordingly, the objectives of the Company are very much depending on the 
need of funding within the Adecco Group.  
 
Adecco Group AG is guarantor for liabilities arising from the bonds and / or other instruments issued by the 
Company. Accordingly, the financial position and credit worthiness of the Company and the Adecco Group 
must be considered as a whole. The notes issued by the Company are fully guaranteed by Adecco Group AG 
and a comfort letter is issued by Adecco Group AG committed to fund the Company if needed. 
 
Personnel 
AIFS B.V. had no personnel in 2020 (2019: nil). 
 

Prospective information  
The annual interest expenses will slightly decrease due to the maturity of the 2016-2021 bond in November 
2021 which has a nominal value of USD 300,000,000 with an interest rate of 2.625%. The operating expense 
are budgeted slightly higher resulting in the result after taxation to be in line with 2020.  
 
The Company is as part of the Adecco Group always looking for new financing opportunities if there is a 
(future) cash need within the group. This can result in issuance of bonds (long-term finance need) or 
commercial paper program loans (short-term finance need). 
 

The on-going coronavirus / COVID-19 outbreak across the globe prompted government authorities to adopt 
containment measures that have disrupted the local economies. In the context of COVID-19, the 
management has reviewed its management forecast and, more importantly for the near term, its liquidity 
forecast both during 2020 as well as for 2021 and onwards. The Board of Directors expects the direct impact 
on the operation of the Company to be limited. Among the outstanding bonds of the Company, the earliest 
maturity date is on November 21, 2021. 
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Although there is no immediate direct impact on the operations of the Company, the parent Company is 
willing and has cash balance (due to the closure of the Soliant divestiture end of December 2019) and an 
revolving credit facility that can, when necessary, support the borrowers to cope with adverse effects of this 
pandemic and to meet their financial obligation to the Company.  
 
The management will carefully monitor the situation and will take appropriate actions, when necessary. 
 

Risk management 
The purpose of the Company is to provide flexible financing to companies within the Adecco Group. The risks 
for the Company are mainly financing risks. The Company issues bonds and commercial paper program loans, 
and the proceeds are lent to other Adecco Group companies as long- and short-term loans. 
 
The risk profile has not changed significantly in the last years. The Company has classified its risk into two 
categories: 

• Financial risks and; 

• Reporting and Compliance risks 
 
The company continuously monitors the risks within both categories. The Company’s risks and uncertainties 
(the risk appetite) is limited for each risk category. The level of the Company’s risk appetite gives guidance as 
to whether the Company would take measures to control such uncertainties. 
 
The risk appetite is further clarified in the section below. 
 
Financial risks 
Market Risk / Price Risk 
The Company is exposed to market/price risk, especially the interest rate risk on loans to Adecco Group 
companies. The intercompany loan extensions will be renegotiated considering current market interest rates 
which may be different compared to the rate upon issuance of the bond.  
 
The possibility exists that intercompany loans will bear a lower interest rate than the initial intercompany 
loan entered into upon issuance of the bond which will have an impact on the profitability of the Company. 
If the situation requires, the parent company is willing and has the ability to recapitalize the Company or can 
implement other measures to support the Company to continue as a going concern.  
 
The interest rate risk for the Company is limited as all lending activities are subject to fixed rates and the 
loans and debts have the same maturity date. 
 
Credit Risk 
Credit risk arises mainly from the lending activities of the Company where there is a possibility of incurring 
losses as a result of a default of a borrower. Since the lending activity is constrained within the Adecco Group, 
the implicit risk of the Company is the risk for the parent company, Adecco Group AG.  
 
As of December 31, 2020, the credit rating of Adecco Group AG is ‘BBB+’ (2019: ‘BBB+’), by Standard and 
Poor’s and ‘Baa1’ (2019: ‘Baa1’) by Moody’s, which is considered to be ‘strong investment grade’ by the 
market. Therefore, the risk of a credit loss on the group lending is limited.  
 
Furthermore, Adecco Group AG, as a beneficial owner of the Company, ensures that Adecco Group 
companies can meet their contractual and other obligations to third parties under the guarantee structure.  
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Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk refers to the possibility of not being able to meet own payment obligations in full or when due. 
The Board of Directors believes that the ability to generate cash from operations combined with additional 
capital resources available is sufficient to support the existing business activities and to meet short and 
medium-term financial commitments. 
 
Foreign exchange risk 
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the future cash flows of financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. It arises on financial instruments that are denominated in a foreign 
currency other than the functional currency which they are measured. The Company has foreign exchange 
risk arising from the USD bond issued in 2017 (maturing in 2021) and the NOK bond issued in 2020 (maturing 
in 2030). This risk is mitigated by lending on the proceeds to other Adecco Group companies in the same 
currency.   
 
Reporting and Compliance risks 
The complexity of the laws regulating public interest entities have increased in the last years, which means 
that the Company is subject to increased exposure to non-compliance, which could result in fines or 
reputational damage. 
 
Internal Control Systems 
The Company’s internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance to Adecco Group 
management and the Board of Directors regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation 
and fair presentation of its financial statements. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, 
have limitations.  
 
Furthermore, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that 
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with 
the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
 
Putting controls into practice 
There is a monthly result reporting and forecasting to Adecco Group AG. The Company submits a 
management representations letter quarterly that certifies that the corporate policies have been complied 
with and explains any exceptions or deviations that have occurred. In addition, the Company also submits a 
legal report that certifies that all applicable laws and regulations have been complied with. 
 
There is a quarterly business review meeting with the Board of Directors, where all aspects of the business 
are scrutinized and discussed with corporate departments, such as Group Treasury, Group Tax, Group Legal 
and Accounting Netherlands.  
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Corporate Social Responsibility 
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) is embedded within the Adecco Group’s policy and is based on the CSR 
Performance ladder level 3. The key principle is the basic right of all individuals to decent and safe work. This 
principle enables the Company to nurture the right conditions for maximum diversity in the workplace for 
training and education.  
 
The Company removes obstacles for those for whom access to employment is not (yet) an inevitable given. 
The Company establish partnerships with civil society organizations who hold the same work-related 
objectives as ourselves. We take our responsibility for our environment very seriously. Where possible 
concrete measures to reduce waste, energy consumption and pollution are taken.  
 

Key priorities are: 

• Excellence 
Contributing to the positive effects for the stakeholders and society. 

• Development of talent (Skills) 
Enhancing prospects for self-development, for everyone. 

• Integration 
Equal opportunities in the labor market, for everyone. 

• Prevention (Safety) 
Effective health and safety, proper conditions of work for everyone. 

 
The Adecco Group is constantly striving to match quality and capacity at work so that individuals can get the 
best out of themselves. The firm belief is that this will benefit the quality of life for the people who work via 
the Adecco Group. At the same time this has a positive effect on employers and society in general. In 
achieving this goal, less capacity will be lost as a result of the under or over-utilization of human capital. This 
vision ties in with a sustainable employment market.  
 

Management and Supervision Act (Wet Bestuur en Toezicht) 
As of January 1, 2013, the law ‘Wet Bestuur en Toezicht’, a new Management and Supervision Act came into 
effect. The new Act requires large-sized legal entities to have a balanced composition of their Board of 
Directors in terms of gender, with at least 30% of the seats occupied by women and at least 30% by men. 
 
The current composition of the Board of Directors deviates from the above mentioned percentages. With 
regard to future nominations and appointments, the Board of Directors will take the gender diversity 
objectives into account as much as possible.  
 
The members of the Board of Directors did not receive remuneration in 2020 (2019: nil) in their capacity as 
Board of Directors of the Company. 
 
The Board of Directors of the Company is composed as follows: 

• Adriaan Belonje, director as of January 1, 2021 

• Coram Williams, director as of June 1, 2020 

• Robert Wolff, director as of May 1, 2019 
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Responsibility statement of the Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors confirms that internal controls over financial reporting provide a reasonable level of 
assurance that the financial reporting does not contain any material inaccuracies, and confirms that these 
controls functioned properly in the year under review and that there are no indications that they will not 
continue to do so. The financial statements fairly represent the Company’s financial condition and the results 
of the Company’s operations and provide the required disclosures. 
 
It should be noted that the above does not imply that these systems and procedures provide absolute 
assurance as to the realization of operational and strategic business objectives, or that they can prevent all 
misstatements, inaccuracies, errors, fraud and non-compliances with legislation rules and regulations. 
 
In accordance with Article 5.25c of the Financial Markets Supervisory Act, and in view of all of the above the 
Board of Directors confirms, that to its knowledge, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company and the financial statements include a 
fair review of the position at the balance sheet date and the development and performance of the business 
during the financial year together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the Company 
faces. 
 
 
March 19, 2021 
The Board of Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
Adriaan Belonje     Coram Williams 
 
 
 
 
 
Robert Wolff 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2020 

Balance sheet 
(after proposed appropriation of result) 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
  

Note EUR EUR EUR EUR

Non-current assets

Long-term loans to Group companies 4 1,335,185,881        1,552,225,077        

Total non-current assets 1,335,185,881       1,552,225,077       

Current assets

Receivables from Group companies 5 248,912,105           20,952,586              

Current account with Group company 6 13,525,637              -                            

Other receivables 6,472                        -                            

Corporate income tax receivable 17 -                            241,222                   

Total current assets 262,444,214          21,193,808            

Cash

Cash 7 87,854                      366,310                   

Total cash 87,854                    366,310                  

Total assets 1,597,717,949 1,573,785,195 

Sharesholder's equity

Share capital 8 2,500,000                2,500,000                

Share premium 8 30,223,245              30,223,245              

Additional paid in capital 8 23,786,217              23,786,217              

Accumulated losses 8 (48,668,548)            (49,728,647)            

Total sharesholder's equity 7,840,914               6,780,815               

Non-current liabilities

Long-term liabilities, less current maturities 9 1,341,093,899        1,558,312,276        

Total non-current liabilities 1,341,093,899       1,558,312,276       

Current liabilities

Long-term liabilities - current portion 10 245,004,194           -                            

Payables to Group companies 11 684,706                   6,044,720                

Interest payables to third parties 12 3,090,862                2,406,064                

Other payables 13 -                            241,320                   

Corporate income tax payable 17 3,374                        -                            

Total current liabilities 248,783,136          8,692,104               

Total shareholder's equity and liabilities 1,597,717,949 1,573,785,195 

 Balance sheet as per 

December 31, 2019 

 Balance sheet as per 

December 31, 2020 
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Income statement 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  

Note EUR EUR EUR EUR

Financial income 14 34,453,489            40,065,023            

Financial expenses 15 (33,155,180)           (39,515,835)           

Financial result 1,298,309        549,188           

General and administrative expenses 16 (122,952)                 (185,991)                 

Result before taxation 1,175,357        363,197           

Income taxes 17 (115,258)                 (196,508)                 

Result after taxation 1,060,099        166,689           

 Income statement 

over the year 2020 

 Income statement 

over the year 2019 
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Cash flow statement  
 

 
The cash flow statement has been prepared in accordance with the direct method. The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial 
statements.  
  

EUR EUR EUR EUR

Operating activities

Operating expenses (138,478)                  (156,283)                  

Interest received 33,348,103              26,590,249              

Interest paid (23,027,528)            (29,833,270)            

Financing and guarantee fees paid (7,093,858)               (6,978,313)               

Taxes paid (VAT) (246,565)                  (64,857)                    

Taxes paid (current income tax) (168,631)                  (215,341)                  

Taxes refund (current income tax) 297,969                   -                            

Cash flow used in operating activities 2,971,012        (10,657,815)     

Investing activities

Issuance of loans to Group companies (44,427,317)            (311,413,000)          

Collection of loans to Group companies 15,600,000              420,927,021           

Cash flow from investing activities (28,827,317)     109,514,021    

Financing activities

Proceeds from the issuance of long-term liabilities 44,471,878              297,438,000           

Received loans from Group companies -                            5,350,000                

Repayment of long-term liabilities - current portion -                            (400,000,000)          

Repayment of loans from Group companies (5,350,000)               (1,700,000)               

Issuance of commercial paper 25,000,000              -                            

Repayment of commercial paper (25,000,000)            -                            

Cash flow used in financing activities 39,121,878      (98,912,000)     

Net cash flow 13,265,573      (55,794)            

Exchange rate differences on cash (18,392)            (843)                 

Change in cash items 13,247,181      (56,637)            

Cash at beginning of year 366,310                  422,947                  

Cash at end of year 87,854                    366,310                  

Current account with Group company at beginning of year -                           -                           

Current account with Group company at end of year 13,525,637            -                           

Change in cash items 13,247,181      (56,637)            

 Cash flow statement

over the year 2020 

 Cash flow statement

over the year 2019 
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Notes to the financial statements 
 

1. General 
Adecco International Financial Services B.V. (the ‘Company’) was incorporated on March 1, 2006 as a private 
limited liability company, with its registered seat in Utrecht, the Netherlands, having its head office at 
Hogeweg 123, 5301 LL Zaltbommel, the Netherlands. Registered with the Chamber of Commerce with 
number: 30212925. The Company is governed by the Netherlands law. 
 
The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Adecco Group AG, Zurich, Switzerland. Adecco Group AG is 
registered in Switzerland and listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange 
 
The principal activity of the Company is to act as finance company of the Group. 
 
Going concern and impact of COVID-19 pandemic 
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis in conformity with Part 9 of book 2 
of the Dutch Civil Code.  
 
The financial statements of the Company will be filed at the Trade Register of the Chamber of Commerce in 
Utrecht, the Netherlands, after adoption by the General Meeting of Shareholders. 
 
The financial statements of the Company are included in the consolidated financial statements of Adecco 
Group AG. Copies of the consolidated financial statements are available at the head office of the parent 
company. 
 
The Company has performed an impact study in association with its external legal partner on the reporting 
obligations in relation to the Brexit and has concluded that the Company is not being impacted by the Brexit. 
No direct business is done with the UK, except for the listing of the Company’s bonds on the London Stock 
Exchange (LSE) for which reporting obligations have been reviewed in relation to the Brexit.  
 
The on-going coronavirus / COVID-19 outbreak across the globe prompted government authorities to adopt 
containment measures that have disrupted the local economies. In the context of COVID-19, the 
management has reviewed its management forecast and, more importantly for the near term, its liquidity 
forecast both during 2020 as well as for 2021 and onwards. The Board of Directors expects the direct impact 
on the operation of the Company to be limited. Among the outstanding bonds of the Company, the earliest 
maturity date is on November 21, 2021. 
 
Although there is no immediate direct impact on the operations of the Company, the parent Company is 
willing and has cash balance (due to the closure of the Soliant divestiture end of December 2019) and an 
revolving credit facility that can, when necessary, support the borrowers to cope with adverse effects of this 
pandemic and to meet their financial obligation to the Company.  
 
The management will carefully monitor the situation and will take appropriate actions, when necessary. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
The principal accounting policies adopted in preparing the financial statements of the Company are as 
follows: 
 
a) Basis of presentation 

The financial statements are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of Title 9, Book 2 of the Dutch 
Civil Code and the firm pronouncements in the Dutch Accounting Standards, as published by the Dutch 
Accounting Standards Board (‘Raad voor de Jaarverslaggeving’).  
 
The accounting principles applied to the valuation of assets and liabilities and the determination of 
results in these financial statements are based on the assumption of continuity of the Company. 
 
Assets and liabilities are generally measured at historical cost or at fair value at the time of acquisition. 
The balance sheet and profit and loss account contain references. These refer to the disclosures in the 
financial statements.  
 

b) Use of estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Dutch GAAP requires management to make 
judgements, assumptions, and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements 
and accompanying notes. On an on-going basis, management evaluates its estimates which is related to 
the allowance for doubtful accounts. 
 
The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other market-specific 
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The results of these estimates 
form the basis for making judgements about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. Actual results differ from those estimates. 
 

c) Reporting currency 
Items included in the financial statements of Company are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the Company operates (the functional currency) and reflects the 
significance of the Company’s Euro-dominated operations. The financial statements are presented in 
euros (EUR), which is the functional and presentation currency of the Company. 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are stated in the financial statements at the exchange rate of the 
functional currency on the transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are 
converted to the closing rate of the functional currency on the balance sheet date. The translation 
differences resulting from settlement and conversion are credited or charged to the income statement. 

 
d) Related parties 

All legal entities, natural persons and other related companies which can control the Company are 
considered to be a related party. In addition, statutory directors, other key management of the Company 
or the parent company and close relatives are regarded as related parties. 
 
Transactions with related parties are disclosed in the notes insofar as they are not transacted under 
normal market conditions. The nature, extent and other information is disclosed if this is necessary in 
order to provide the true and fair view. 

 
e) Long-term assets 

Long-terms assets are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction cost and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.  
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The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that the loans to 
Group companies is impaired. If any such evidence exists, the impairment loss is determined and 
recognised in the income statement. 
 
The amount of an impairment loss incurred on loans to Group companies stated at amortised cost is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition).  
 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss shall be reversed.  
 
The reversal shall not result in a carrying amount of the financial asset that exceeds what the amortised 
cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. 
The amount of the reversal shall be recognised through income statement. 
 
The balances of loans to Group companies that are expected to be recovered or collected more than 
twelve months after the reporting date are presented as non-current assets. 

 
f) Current assets 

Short terms loans to Group companies are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction cost and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Corporate income tax receivable and other (group) 
receivables are stated at nominal value. The interest receivables from Group companies are stated at 
amortised cost (which generally equals nominal value).  
 
A cash pool account with Adecco Liquidity Services has been in place since 2020 and is reported as  
current account with Group company at nominal value.  

 
g) Cash 

Cash is stated at nominal value. The cash balance at the year-end represents cash held at banks at the 
free disposal of the Company. 

 
h) Shareholder’s equity 

Share capital, comprising of common shares, is classified as equity and is stated as nominal value. Share 
premium includes consideration received in excess of the par value on the issuance of share capital. 
Additional paid-in capital pertains to the amounts received from the parent Company after the issuance 
of share to ensure to strengthen the equity position of the Company. 
 

i) Long-term liabilities 
Long-term liabilities are recognised initiaIIy at fair value, net of transaction cost and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.  
 
The difference between stated book value and the mature redemption value is accounted for as interest 
cost in the income statement on the basis of the effective interest rate during the estimated term of the 
long-term debts. 
 
The amounts to be paid more than twelve months after the reporting date are presented as non-current 
liabilities. 
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j) Current liabilities 
Short terms Ioans from Group companies are recognised initiaIIy at fair value, net of transaction cost and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. The interest payables, other (group) payables, accrued and 
other liabilities are recognised at amortised cost (which generally equals nominal value).  
 

k) Determination of the result 
Interest income and expenses are recognised on a pro rata basis, taking account of the effective interest 
rate of the assets and liabilities to which they relate. In accounting for interest expenses, the recognised 
transaction expenses for loans received are taken into consideration.  
 
General and administrative expenses are determined on a historical basis and are attributed to the 
reporting year to which they relate. Expenses incurred in the direction and general administration of day-
to-day operations of the Company and are generally recognised when the service is used or the expense 
arises. 

 
l) Income taxes 

Taxes are based on tax rulings concluded with the Dutch Tax Authorities and the (fiscal) operating 
expenses as disclosed in the income statement and are stated at nominal value. The effective tax rate 
applied will differ from the nominal tax rate of 25.0% (2019: 25.0%). 
 
 

m) Cash flow statement 
The cash flow statement has been prepared in accordance with the direct method.  
 
Consolidated cash flows for the entire group are included in the Adecco Group AG consolidated financial 
statements. A separate cash flow statement for the Company is not required by Dutch law. To be in line 
with the practice in the capital market, the Company prepares a cash flow statement, using the direct 
method. 
 
The cash items included in the cash flow statement consists of current accounts maintained with local 
banks and the cash pool account which is presented in the financial statement as current account with 
Group company.  
 
Cash flows denominated in foreign currencies have been translated at average exchange rates and 
exchange differences affecting the cash balance is included in the respective amounts.  
 
Cash from loans granted to group companies are included in investing activities. Cash from borrowings 
including additional paid-in capital are included in the financing activities. Interest received and paid and 
all other movements in the cash balance are included in operating activities. 
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3. Risk disclosure 
This risk paragraph is a copy of the risk management paragraph as reported in the Board of Directors’ Report. 
 
The purpose of the Company is to provide flexible financing to companies within the Adecco Group. The risks 
for the Company are mainly financing risks. The Company issues bonds and commercial paper program loans, 
and the proceeds are lent to other Adecco Group companies as long- and short-term loans. 
 
The risk profile has not changed significantly in the last years. The Company has classified its risk into two 
categories: 

• Financial risks and; 

• Reporting and Compliance risks 
 
The company continuously monitors the risks within both categories. The Company’s risks and uncertainties 
(the risk appetite) is limited for each risk category. The level of the Company’s risk appetite gives guidance as 
to whether the Company would take measures to control such uncertainties. 
 
The risk appetite is further clarified in the section below. 
 
Financial risks 
Market Risk / Price Risk 
The Company is exposed to market/price risk, especially the interest rate risk on loans to Adecco Group 
companies. The intercompany loan extensions will be renegotiated considering current market interest rates 
which may be different compared to the rate upon issuance of the bond.  
 
The possibility exists that intercompany loans will bear a lower interest rate than the initial intercompany 
loan entered into upon issuance of the bond which will have an impact on the profitability of the Company. 
If the situation requires, the parent company is willing and has the ability to recapitalize the Company or can 
implement other measures to support the Company to continue as a going concern.  
 
The interest rate risk for the Company is limited as all lending activities are subject to fixed rates and the 
loans and debts have the same maturity date. 
 
Credit Risk 
Credit risk arises mainly from the lending activities of the Company where there is a possibility of incurring 
losses as a result of a default of a borrower. Since the lending activity is constrained within the Adecco Group, 
the implicit risk of the Company is the risk for the parent company, Adecco Group AG.  
 
As of December 31, 2020, the credit rating of Adecco Group AG is ‘BBB+’ (2019: ‘BBB+’), by Standard and 
Poor’s and ‘Baa1’ (2019: ‘Baa1’) by Moody’s, which is considered to be ‘strong investment grade’ by the 
market. Therefore, the risk of a credit loss on the group lending is limited.  
 
Furthermore, Adecco Group AG, as a beneficial owner of the Company, ensures that Adecco Group 
companies can meet their contractual and other obligations to third parties under the guarantee structure.  
 
Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk refers to the possibility of not being able to meet own payment obligations in full or when due. 
The Board of Directors believes that the ability to generate cash from operations combined with additional 
capital resources available is sufficient to support the existing business activities and to meet short and 
medium-term financial commitments. 
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Foreign exchange risk 
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the future cash flows of financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. It arises on financial instruments that are denominated in a foreign 
currency other than the functional currency which they are measured. The Company has foreign exchange 
risk arising from the USD bond issued in 2017 (maturing in 2021) and the NOK bond issued in 2020 (maturing 
in 2030). This risk is mitigated by lending on the proceeds to other Adecco Group companies in the same 
currency.   
 
Reporting and Compliance risks 
The complexity of the laws regulating public interest entities have increased in the last years, which means 
that the Company is subject to increased exposure to non-compliance, which could result in fines or 
reputational damage. 
 
Internal Control Systems 
The Company’s internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance to Adecco Group 
management and the Board of Directors regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation 
and fair presentation of its financial statements. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, 
have limitations.  
 
Furthermore, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that 
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with 
the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
 
Putting controls into practice 
There is a monthly result reporting and forecasting to Adecco Group AG. The Company submits a 
management representations letter quarterly that certifies that the corporate policies have been complied 
with and explains any exceptions or deviations that have occurred. In addition, the Company also submits a 
legal report that certifies that all applicable laws and regulations have been complied with. 
 
There is a quarterly business review meeting with the Board of Directors, where all aspects of the business 
are scrutinized and discussed with corporate departments, such as Group Treasury, Group Tax, Group Legal 
and Accounting Netherlands.  
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4. Long-term loans to Group companies 
The long-term loans to Group companies can be detailed as follows:  
 

 
*       Transfers of loans relate to loans maturing within twelve months after balance sheet date.   

         These loans have been reclassed from long-term loans to short-term loans as per the balance sheet date. 

**   The long-term loan to Adecco Group AG, Switzerland is stated in USD and is impacted by the foreign exchange rate. 

*** The long-term loan to Adecco Group AG, Switzerland is stated in NOK and is impacted by the foreign exchange rate. 

 

 
*     Transfers of loans relate to loans maturing within twelve months after balance sheet date.  

       These loans have  been reclassed from long-term loans to short-term loans as per the balance sheet date. 

**  The long-term loan to Adecco Secad Ltd, Bermuda / Adecco Group AG, Switzerland is stated in USD and is impacted by the foreign exchange rate. 

      The FX revaluation is  shown at Adecco Group AG, Switzerland who took over the loan from Adecco Secad Ltd, Bermuda. 

 
 

5. Receivables from Group companies 
The receivables from Group companies can be detailed as follows: 

 
*  The USD loan with Adecco Group AG has become a short-term loan as it will mature in 2021. This loan is impacted by the foreign 

exchange rate. 
 
The short-term loans to Group companies for 2020 relates to a loan with Adecco Group AG which has an 
interest rate of 3.525%. The short-term loans to Group companies for 2019 relates to a loan with Adecco 
Invest S.A. at an interest rate of 0.067% which has been repaid in 2020. 

01-01-2020 31-12-2020
Interest 

rate

Maturity Opening balance Additions Redemption / 

Transfers *

FX revaluations Closing balance

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR

Adecco Refinancing B.V., The Netherlands 1.597% 2024 167,154,000          -                         -                           -                            167,154,000          

Adecco Refinancing B.V., The Netherlands 1.431% 2024 199,867,000          -                         -                           -                            199,867,000          

Adecco Refinancing B.V., The Netherlands 1.676% 2024 127,539,000          -                         -                           -                            127,539,000          

Adecco Group AG, Switzerland 1.897% 2020 83,751,069            -                         -                           -                            83,751,069            

Adecco Group AG, Switzerland ** 3.525% 2021 264,602,077          -                         (242,855,958)         (21,746,119)            -                           

Adecco Group AG, Switzerland *** 2.800% 2030 -                           47,562,881           -                           -                            47,562,881            

Adecco Invest SA, Switzerland 2.400% 2022 497,250,000          -                         -                           -                            497,250,000          

Adecco Refinancing B.V., The Netherlands 1.486% 2029 212,061,931          -                         -                           -                            212,061,931          

1,552,225,077 47,562,881     (242,855,958)   (21,746,119)      1,335,185,881 

Group Company

Long-term loans to Group companies

01-01-2019 31-12-2019
Interest 

rate

Maturity Opening balance Additions Redemption / 

Transfers *

FX revaluations Closing balance

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR

Adecco Secad Ltd, Bermuda 2.400% 2019 497,250,000          -                         (497,250,000)         -                            -                           

Adecco Refinancing B.V., The Netherlands 1.600% 2024 167,154,000          -                         -                           -                            167,154,000          

Adecco Refinancing B.V., The Netherlands 1.431% 2024 199,867,000          -                         -                           -                            199,867,000          

Adecco Refinancing B.V., The Netherlands 1.680% 2024 127,539,000          -                         -                           -                            127,539,000          

Adecco Secad Ltd, Bermuda ** 3.525% 2021 258,729,495          -                         (258,729,495)         -                            -                           

Adecco Group AG, Switzerland 1.897% 2020 -                           83,751,069           -                           -                            83,751,069            

Adecco Group AG, Switzerland ** 3.525% 2021 -                           -                         258,729,495          5,872,582                264,602,077          

Adecco Invest SA, Switzerland 2.400% 2022 -                           -                         497,250,000          -                            497,250,000          

Adecco Refinancing B.V., The Netherlands 1.486% 2029 -                           212,061,931        -                           -                            212,061,931          

1,250,539,495 295,813,000   -                   5,872,582         1,552,225,077 Long-term loans to Group companies

Group Company

31-12-2020 31-12-2019
EUR EUR

242,855,958           15,600,000            

Interest receivables from Group companies 6,056,147                5,352,586               

248,912,105     20,952,586      Receivables from Group companies

Short-term loans to Group companies *
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6. Current account with Group company 
The current account with Group company of EUR 13,525,637 (2019: nil) relates to the cash pool agreement 
with Adecco Liquidity Services. This cash pool agreement also provides a maximum credit facility of EUR 
7,500,000. 
 
 

7. Cash 
Cash is stated at nominal value. The cash balance at the year-end represents cash held at banks and is readily 
available. 
 
 

8. Shareholder’s equity 
The authorized share capital amounts to EUR 12,500,000 divided into 12,500 shares, each with a nominal 
value of EUR 1,000. As of December 31, 2020, there were 2,500 shares registered and fully paid in. 
 

 
 

 
These financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the result for the year will be added to 
accumulated losses account. A proposal will be made at the General Meeting of Shareholders. 
 
  

Share capital Share premium Additional paid 

in capital

Accumulated losses Total

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR

2,500,000               30,223,245           23,786,217            (49,728,647)            6,780,815               

-                           -                         -                           1,060,099                1,060,099               

2,500,000        30,223,245     23,786,217      (48,668,548)      7,840,914        

Shareholder's equity 2020

Shareholder's equity January 1, 2020

Result after taxation

Shareholder's equity December 31, 2020

Share capital Share premium Additional paid 

in capital

Accumulated losses Total

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR

2,500,000               30,223,245           23,786,217            (49,895,336)            6,614,126               

-                           -                         -                           166,689                   166,689                  

2,500,000        30,223,245     23,786,217      (49,728,647)      6,780,815        

Result after taxation

Shareholder's equity December 31, 2019

Shareholder's equity January 1, 2019

Shareholder's equity 2019
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9. Long-term liabilities 
The long-term liabilities can be detailed as follows: 
 

 
*    2017 Bond is stated in USD and is impacted by the foreign exchange rate. This revaluation is included in the data as per year-end 2020 and 2019. 

**  2020 Bond is stated in NOK and is impacted by the foreign exchange rate. This revaluation is included in the data as per year-end 2020.  

    The issuance costs are stated and charged in EUR so not impacted by the foreign exchange rate. There is no discount.  

 
 

 
*  2017 Bond is stated in USD and is impacted by the foreign exchange rate. This revaluation is included in the data as per year-end 2019. 

 
All bonds are listed at the London Stock Exchange, United Kingdom. 
 
  

01-01-2020 31-12-2020
Interest 

rate

Maturity Opening balance Issuance (+) 

Transfer to 

current (-)

Amorization FX revaluations Closing balance

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR

1.500% 2022 500,000,000          -                         -                           -                            500,000,000          

(998,415)                 -                         379,113                  -                            (619,302)                 

2.625% 2021 267,558,600          (267,558,600)       -                           -                            -                           

(1,355,061)             1,355,061             -                           -                            -                           

1.000% 2024 500,000,000          -                         -                           -                            500,000,000          

(3,816,544)             -                         776,256                  -                            (3,040,288)             

1.250% 2029 300,000,000          -                         -                           -                            300,000,000          

(3,076,304)             -                         311,136                  -                            (2,765,168)             

2.650% 2030 -                           44,561,000           -                           3,145,000                47,706,000            

-                           (198,763)               11,420                    -                            (187,343)                 

1,558,312,276 (221,841,302)  1,477,925        3,145,000         1,341,093,899 

Nominal value bond issued 2015 500M EUR

Issuance discount and costs

Nominal value bond issued 2017 300M USD *

Issuance discount and costs *

Nominal value bond issued 2016 500M EUR

Issuance discount and costs

Nominal value bond issued 2019 300M EUR

Issuance discount and costs

Nominal value bond issued 2020 500M NOK **

Issuance costs **

Long-term liabilities, less current maturities

01-01-2019 31-12-2019
Interest 

rate

Maturity Opening balance Issuance (+) 

Transfer to 

current (-)

Amorization FX revaluations Closing balance

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR

1.500% 2022 500,000,000          -                         -                           -                            500,000,000          

(1,361,378)             -                         362,963                  -                            (998,415)                 

2.625% 2021 261,620,400          -                         -                           5,938,200                267,558,600          

(2,047,719)             -                         739,127                  (46,469)                    (1,355,061)             

1.000% 2024 500,000,000          -                         -                           -                            500,000,000          

(4,592,800)             -                         776,256                  -                            (3,816,544)             

1.250% 2029 -                           300,000,000        -                           -                            300,000,000          

-                           (3,267,000)            190,696                  -                            (3,076,304)             

1,253,618,503 296,733,000   2,069,042        5,891,731         1,558,312,276 

Issuance discount and costs

Long-term liabilities, less current maturities

Nominal value bond issued 2015 500M EUR

Issuance discount and costs

Nominal value bond issued 2017 300M USD *

Issuance discount and costs *

Nominal value bond issued 2016 500M EUR

Issuance discount and costs

Nominal value bond issued 2019 300M EUR
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On May 20, 2019, the Company issued a loan to Adecco Refinancing B.V. The proceeds were used by Adecco 
Refinancing B.V. to initiate the bond buyback program which was launched by the Adecco Group.  
 
As a result of this buyback, Adecco Refinancing B.V. is holding EUR 199,995,000 of the 2015-2022 bond. 
 

 
 
Bond 2015-2022 
On May 18, 2015, the Company issued EUR 500,000,000 fixed rate bond guaranteed by the parent company, 
due November 22, 2022 (7-year 184 days bond).  
 
The interest is paid on the fixed rate bond annually in arrears at a fixed annual rate of 1.500%, the effective 
interest rate is 1.509%. 
 
 
Bond 2016-2024 
On December 2, 2016, the Company issued EUR 500,000,000 fixed rate bond guaranteed by the parent 
company, due December 2, 2024 (8-year bond).  
 
The interest is paid on the fixed rate bond annually in arrears at a fixed annual rate of 1.000%, the effective 
interest rate is 1.110%. The issuance fee related to the bond is EUR 471,810. The net proceeds, EUR 
494,560,000, were partially used for the bond buyback program of the Adecco Group. 
 
 
Bond 2017-2021 
On November 21, 2017, the Company issued USD 300,000,000 (equivalent to EUR 245,569,500 as per 
December 31, 2020 revalued balance; equivalent to EUR 267,558,600 as per December 31, 2019 revalued 
balance) fixed rate bond guaranteed by the parent company, due November 21, 2021 (4-year bond). The 
Company as the issuer has an option to redeem the bond at any point within the term of the instrument. 
 
The interest is paid on the fixed rate bond annually in arrears at a fixed annual rate of 2.625%, the effective 
interest rate is 2,803%. The issuance fee related to the bond is EUR 260,162. The net proceeds were used for 
general financing purposes of the Adecco Group. 
 
 
Bond 2019-2029 
On May 20, 2019, the Company issued EUR 300,000,000 fixed rate bond guaranteed by the parent company, 
due November 20, 2029 (10.5-year bond). The Company as the issuer has an option to redeem the bond 
during period commencing three months prior to the maturity date.  
 
The interest is paid on the fixed rate bond annually in arrears at a fixed annual rate of 1.250%, the effective 
interest rate is 1.307%. The issuance fee related to the bond is EUR 1,605,000. The net proceeds, EUR 
297,438,000, were partially used for the bond buyback program of the Adecco Group and for general 
financing purposes. 
 
  

31-12-2020 31-12-2019
EUR EUR

1,393,280,500       1,367,563,600       

199,995,000          199,995,000          

1,593,275,500 1,567,558,600 Nominal amounts held by participants after buyback programm

Group companies

Third parties

Nominal amounts held by participants after buyback programm
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Bond 2020-2030 
On May 29, 2020, the Company issued a senior unsecured fixed rate bond denominated in NOK in a private 
placement for NOK 500,000,000 (equivalent to EUR 47,706,000 as per December 31, 2020 revalued balance). 
The bond is guaranteed by Adecco Group AG, the parent company and will mature on August 29, 2030.  
 
The interest is paid on the fixed rate bond annually on August 29 in arrears at a fixed annual rate of 2.650% 
(starting from 2021 with a coupon of NOK 16,562,500 in 2021 and NOK 13,250,000 thereafter), the effective 
interest rate is 2.700%. The issuance fee related to the bond is NOK 1,500,000. The net proceeds, NOK 
498,500,000 (equivalent to EUR 47,562,881 as per December 31, 2020 revalued balance), were used for 
general financing purposes of the Adecco Group. 
 
 

10.  Long-term liabilities – current portion 
The current portion of long-term liabilities can be detailed as follows: 

 
*    2017 Bond is stated in USD and is impacted by the foreign exchange rate. This revaluation is included in the data as per year-end 2020.  

      As this bond will mature in 2021 it has been reclassed in the financial statements 2020 to Long-term liabilities – current portion. 

 
 

11.  Payables to Group companies 
The payables to Group companies can be detailed as follows: 

 
The interest payables to Group companies as per December 31, 2020 relate to the interest that needs to be 
paid on the current account (cash pool) with Adecco Liquidity Services AG. Currently there is an interest 
payable (debit interest rate) on the cash pool although the Company has a cash surplus. No cash pool was in 
place in 2019. The presented balance of 2019 relates to a loan of EUR 5,350,000 with Adecco Refinancing 
which had an interest rate of 0.065% and matured in December 2020. 
 
 

12.  Interest payables to third parties 
The interest payables to third parties of EUR 3,090,862 (2019: EUR 2,406,064) relates to the interest accrued 
and not yet paid interest (coupon) on the fixed rate bonds. The amount of interest payables to third parties 
increased compared to 2019 due to the new issued bond which has a first long coupon period which is due 
in August 2021. The coupon on the bonds is each year paid in August, November and December.  
 
 

13.  Other payables 
The amount of 2019 relates to accrued expenses of EUR 13,442 and EUR 227,878 Value Added Tax (VAT) to 
pay.  

31-12-2020 31-12-2019
Interest 

rate

Maturity EUR EUR

2.625% 2021 245,569,500           -                           

(565,306)                  -                           

245,004,194     -                   

Issuance discount and costs *

Nominal value bond issued 2017 300M USD *

Current portion of long-term debt

31-12-2020 31-12-2019
EUR EUR

-                           5,350,000               

1,170                       291                          

683,536                  694,429                  

684,706           6,044,720        Payables to Group companies

Other payables to Group companies

Short-term loans from Group companies

Interest payables to Group companies
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14.  Financial income 
The financial income can be detailed as follows: 

 
 
 

15.  Financial expenses 
The financial expenses can be detailed as follows: 

 
* The other financing fees relates to VAT expenses and other bond issuance expenses. 

 
 

16.  General and administrative expenses 
The general and administrative expenses decreased compared to 2019 mainly as the year 2019 contained 
Value Added Tax (VAT) expenses and related penalties and interest related to VAT 2014-2019.  
 
 

17.  Taxes 
Income taxes 
The total current income tax payable as of December 31, 2020 is EUR 3,374 (2019: nil) and the total expense 
in the income statement is EUR 115,258 (2019: EUR 196,508) of which EUR 56,747 tax income relates to 
2019.  
 
As the preliminary tax assessment for 2020 was lower than the year end calculation the Company has an 
income tax payable of EUR 3,374 at December 31, 2020 (2019: EUR 241,221 tax receivable linked to a higher 
preliminary tax assessment versus actual year end calculation). 
 
The effective tax rate is 9.81% (2019: 54.11%) leading to a difference with the domestic income tax rate of 
25%. This is caused by the Advanced Price Agreements (APA) which are in place, resulting in a difference 
between the commercial and fiscal result.  
 
Next to that the tax expenses in the income statement of EUR 115,258 include a tax income of EUR 56,747 
related to a prior year adjustment as a result from the final tax declaration 2019 as more costs were 
deductable within the Advanced Price Agreements. If we adjust the effective tax rate for this the rate is 
14.63% (solo 2020). 
 
  

2020 2019
EUR EUR

34,328,890            40,065,023            

124,599                  -                           

34,453,489      40,065,023      Financial income

Foreign exchange gain

Interest income from Group companies

2020 2019
EUR EUR

(2,206,375)             (2,345,056)             

(142,287)                 (296,900)                 

(30,798,547)           (36,859,154)           

(7,971)                     (1,673)                     

-                           (13,052)                   

(33,155,180)     (39,515,835)     

Amortization discount and fees

Other financing fees *

Interest and similar expenses

Interest expense from Group companies

Financial expenses

Foreign exchange loss
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See below overview from commercial result to taxable result resulting in the income taxes as presented in 
the income statement and the calculation of the effective tax rate for 2020 and 2019. 
 

 

 
 
 

18.  Employees 
During 2020, the Company had no employees (2019: no employees). 
 
 

19.  Related party transactions 
In the normal course of business, the Company has transactions with related parties as follows: 

a) Loans granted to Group companies are EUR 1,578,041,839 (2019: 1,567,825,077). The related 
accrued interest receivables are EUR 6,056,147 (2019: 5,352,586) and are disclosed in notes 4 and 5. 
In note 6 the current account with Group company (cash pool) is disclosed for an amount of EUR 
13,525,637 (2019: nil). In 2020, the management has assessed that no impairment loss needs to be 
recognised during the year (2019: nil).  

b) As of December 31, 2020, the balance of loans obtained from Group companies is nil (2019: EUR 
5,350,000). There is only a balance related to interest payable which is the interest on the current 
account for EUR 1,170 (2019: nil) and for loans (2020: nil; 2019: EUR 291). This is disclosed in note 
11. Currently there is an interest payable (debit interest rate) on the cash pool although the Company 
has a cash surplus.  

c) As of December 31, 2020, the balance of other payables to Group companies is EUR 683,536 (2019: 
EUR 694,429) and is disclosed in note 11. The amount relates to the guarantee fees to be paid to 
Adecco Group AG (to be paid in Q4 2021).  

d) Interest income from Group companies (financial income) is EUR 34,328,890 (2019: EUR 40,065,023) 
and is disclosed in note 14. 

e) In 2020, a guarantee fee (financial expenses) of EUR 6,888,538 (2019: EUR 8,054,798) is charged by 
Adecco Group AG for the underwriting of the bonds (and commercial paper in 2020). This is disclosed 
in note 15 in the interest and similar expenses. 

f) Interest expense from Group companies (financial expenses) is EUR 7,971 (2019: EUR 1,673) and is 
disclosed in note 15. 

2020 2019
EUR EUR

1,175,357                363,197                  

(419,337)                  470,837                  

756,020                   834,034                  

Tax rate 2020 Tax rate 2019

16.5% 19.0% (33,000)                    (38,000)                   

25.0% 25.0% (139,005)                  (158,508)                 

(172,005)                  (196,508)                 

56,747                      -                           

(115,258)           (196,508)          

Permanent difference linked to adjustment for Advanced Pricing Agreement (APA)

Income taxes current year

Tax on EUR 0 - EUR 200,000

Tax on amount above EUR 200,000

Income taxes

Taxable result

Income taxes prior year

Commercial result to taxable result - Income taxes

Result before taxation

2020 2019
EUR EUR

(172,005)                  (196,508)                 

56,747                      -                           

(115,258)                  (196,508)                 

1,175,357                363,197                  

14.63% 54.11%

9.81% 54.11%

Income taxes prior year

Effective Tax Rate (ETR)

Income taxes current year

Income taxes current year

Result before taxation

Effective Tax Rate (ETR) excluding prior year

Effective Tax Rate (ETR)
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g) Recharged staff expenses from Group companies is EUR 24,000 (2019: EUR 22,800) and is -reported 
in note 16. 

 
 
 

20.  Fair value non-derivative financial instruments 
The following table shows the carrying value and the fair value of non-derivative financial instruments as of 
December 31, 2020 and 2019. 
 

 
 
The fair value is presented at LAST / MID prices. The fair value is the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. If no 
fair value can be readily and reliably established, fair value is approximated by deriving it from the fair value 
of components or of a comparable financial instrument, or by approximating fair value using valuation 
models and valuation techniques.  
 
Valuation techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions between knowledgeable, willing 
parties, if available, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, 
discounted cash flow analysis and/or option pricing models, making allowance for entity-specific inputs. 
 
The Company uses the following methods to estimate the fair value of each class of non-derivative financial 
instruments: 
 

• Long and short term loans to – from Group companies  
To calculate the fair market value of loans to Group companies, the discounted cash flow method was 
applied. Starting from the scheduled interest and principal payments set forth in the loan contracts each 
individual loan is valued by discounting the remaining interest and principal payments with the relevant 
interest rate as of valuation date.  
 

• Long-term liabilities including the current portion 
The fair value of the Company’s publicly traded long-term liabilities, including accrued interest, is estimated 
using quoted market prices on last trade during the year. 
 

31-12-2020 31-12-2020 31-12-2019 31-12-2019
EUR EUR EUR EUR

Carrying value Fair value Carrying value Fair value

1,335,185,881     1,441,556,680       1,552,225,077        1,656,961,266       

242,855,958        252,344,737          15,600,000              15,641,422            

6,056,147             6,056,147               5,352,586                5,352,586               

13,525,637           13,525,637            -                            -                           

87,854                   87,854                    366,310                   366,310                  

1,341,093,899     1,412,698,080       1,558,312,276        1,629,153,115       

245,004,194        248,813,474          -                            -                           

-                         -                           5,350,000                5,365,169               

1,170                     1,170                       291                           291                          

3,090,862             3,090,862               2,406,064                2,406,064               

683,536                683,536                  694,429                   694,429                  

-                         -                           241,320                   241,320                  

Long-term liabilities - current portion

Short-term loans from Group companies

Cash

Current account with Group company

Non-current liabilities

Non-current assets

Long-term loans to Group companies

Current assets

Short-term loans to Group companies

Interest receivables from Group companies

Fair value non-derivative financial instruments

Interest payables to Group companies

Interest payables to third parties

Other payables to Group companies

Other payables

Long-term debt, less current maturities

Current liabilities
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• Other financial instruments  
The carrying amounts approximate fair value primarily due to the relatively short-term maturities of these 
financial instruments. 
 
 

21.  Audit fees  
The total audit fees for 2020 are EUR 44,000 excluding VAT (2019: EUR 44,000 excluding VAT). Fees are 
related to the assurance assignments of the Company, no other services are rendered. 
 
 

22.  Remuneration of the Board of Directors  
The members of the Board of Directors did not receive remuneration in 2020 (2019: nil) in their capacity as 
Directors of the Company. 
 
 

23.  Cross border listings 
The Company has issued bonds that are listed on the London Stock Exchange. 
 
 

24.  Subsequent events  
No significant events between the balance sheet date and the date of approval of the financial statements 
2020 occurred that would require adjustments in the reported figures nor additional disclosure in the 
financial statements. 
 
 
March 19, 2021 
The Board of Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
Adriaan Belonje     Coram Williams 
 
 
 
 
 
Robert Wolff 
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OTHER INFORMATION 
 

Appropriation of result 
The articles of association of the Company (article 13) provide that the appropriation of the net result for the 
year is decided upon at the General Meeting of Shareholders. 
 
The Company may make distributions of profit only to the extent that its shareholders’ equity exceeds the 
sum of the amount of the paid up and called up part of the capital and the reserves which must be maintained 
by law; any distribution of profits shall be made after the adoption of the Annual Accounts from which it shall 
appear that the same is permitted. 
 

Auditor’s report 
See next page.  
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT 2019 
 

General information 
Adecco International Financial Services B.V. (the ‘Company’) was incorporated on March 1, 2006 as a private 
limited liability company, with its registered seat in Utrecht, the Netherlands, having its head office at 
Hogeweg 123, 5301 LL Zaltbommel, the Netherlands. Registered with the Chamber of Commerce with 
number: 30212925. The Company is governed by the Netherlands law. 
 
The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Adecco Group AG, Zurich, Switzerland. Adecco Group AG is 
registered in Switzerland and listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange. 
 
The principal activity of the Company is to act as financial company of the Group. 
 

Financial statements 
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis in conformity with Part 9 of book 2 
of the Dutch Civil Code.  
 
The financial statements of the Company will be filed at the Trade Register of the Chamber of Commerce in 
Utrecht, the Netherlands, after adoption by the General Meeting of Shareholders. 
 

Company operations 
The Company is engaged in financing and investment activities for the Adecco Group and obtains funds 
through loans via external banking and capital markets.  
 
Bonds 
Under the Group’s Euro Medium Term Notes (EMTN) program the Company has issued the following bonds:  
 

Amount of Bond Year of issuance Year maturing Interest rate Effective interest rate Issuance price 

EUR 500,000,000 2011 2018 4.750% 4.840% 99.453% 

EUR 400,000,000 2013 2019 2.750% 2.770% 99.911% 

EUR 400,000,000 2015 2022 1.500% 1.509% 99.939% 

EUR 500,000,000 2016 2024 1.000% 1.110% 99.162% 

USD 300,000,000 * 2017 2021 2.625% 2.803% 99.334% 

EUR 300,000,000 2019 2029 1.250% 1.307% 99.446% 

* USD 300,000,000 (equivalent to EUR 267,558,600 as per December 31, 2019 revalued balance  EUR 261,620,400 as per December 31, 2018 revalued 

balance). 

 
The proceeds of the bond issuances have been used for general financing purposes of the Adecco Group or 
for refinancing purposes of the Adecco Group. 
 
As presented in the table above the Company issued on the May 20, 2019 EUR 300,000,000 fixed rate bonds 
guaranteed by Adecco Group AG, the parent company, due November 20, 2029. The interest is paid on the 
fixed rate bond annually in arrears at a fixed annual rate of 1.250%. The proceeds were used for general 
purposes of the Adecco Group and for refinancing purposes of the Adecco Group.  
 
In 2019 the 2013-2019 bond matured. All bonds are listed at the London Stock Exchange, United Kingdom. 
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Loans and commercial paper 
Interest income from Adecco Group companies and other financing income amount to EUR 40.1 million in 
2019 (2018: EUR 48.4 million), and interest expenses on the issued securities and other financial expenses 
amount to EUR 39.5 million in 2019 (2018: EUR 49.5 million). The net profit amounts to EUR 0.2 million in 
2019 (2018: loss of EUR 1.6 million).  
 
In March 2018, the Company issued EUR 370 million commercial paper as part of the French, so called ‘NEU 
CP’ Commercial Paper Program. Under this program the Company may issue short-term commercial paper 
up to a maximum of EUR 500 million, with maturity of individual papers of 365 days or less. In order to 
strengthen the liquidity position of the Adecco Group the Company issued commercial paper in March 2018, 
ending in June, September, October, November and December 2018. No commercial paper has been issued 
in 2019. 
 
Guarantee 
As described above, the Company is a subsidiary of Adecco Group AG and serves as a funding entity for the 
benefit of the Adecco Group. Accordingly, the objectives of the Company are very much depending on the 
need of funding within the Adecco Group.  
 
Adecco Group AG is guarantor for liabilities arising from the bonds and / or other instruments issued by the 
Company. Accordingly, the financial position and credit worthiness of the Company and the Adecco Group 
must be considered as a whole. The notes issued by the Company are fully guaranteed by Adecco Group AG 
and a comfort letter is issued by Adecco Group AG committed to fund the Company if needed. 
 
Personnel 
AIFS B.V. had no personnel in 2019 (2018: nil). 
 

Prospective information  
The annual interest expenses will decrease due to the maturity of the 2013-2019 bond which has a nominal 
value of EUR 400,000,000 with an interest rate of 2.750% while the new issued 2019-2029 bond has a nominal 
value of EUR 300,000,000 with an interest rate of 1.250%. The result after taxation is therefore expected to 
increase compared to 2019. 
 
The Company is as part of the Adecco Group always looking for new financing opportunities if there is a 
(future) cash need within the group. This can result in issuance of bonds (long-term finance need) or 
commercial paper program loans (short-term finance need). 
 

The on-going coronavirus / COVID-19 outbreak across the globe prompted government authorities to adopt 
containment measures that have disrupted the local economies. In the context of COVID-19, the 
management has reviewed its management forecast and, more importantly for the near term, its liquidity 
forecast. The Board of Directors expects the direct impact on the operation of the Company to be limited. 
Among the outstanding bonds of the Company, the earliest maturity date is on November 21, 2021. 
 
Although there is also no immediate direct impact on the operation of the Company, the parent Company is 
willing and has cash balance (due to the closure of the Soliant divestiture end of December 2019) and an 
revolving credit facility that can, when necessary, support the borrowers to cope with adverse effects of this 
pandemic and to meet their financial obligation to the Company.  
 
The management will carefully monitor the situation and will take appropriate actions, when necessary. 
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Risk management 
The purpose of the Company is to provide flexible financing to companies within the Adecco Group. The risks 
for the Company are mainly financing risks. The Company issues bonds and commercial paper program loans, 
and the proceeds are lent to other Adecco Group companies as long- and short-term loans. 
 
The risk profile has not changed significantly in the last years. The Company has classified its risk into two 
categories: 

• Financial risks and; 

• Reporting and Compliance risks 
 
The company continuously monitors the risks within both categories. The Company’s risks and uncertainties 
(the risk appetite) is limited for each risk category. The level of the Company’s risk appetite gives guidance as 
to whether the Company would take measures to control such uncertainties. 
 
The risk appetite is further clarified in the section below. 
 
Financial risks 
Market Risk / Price Risk 
The Company is exposed to market/price risk, especially the interest rate risk on loans to Adecco Group 
companies. The intercompany loan extensions will be renegotiated considering current market interest rates 
which may be different compared to the rate upon issuance of the bond.  
 
The possibility exists that intercompany loans will bear a lower interest rate than the initial intercompany 
loan entered into upon issuance of the bond which will have an impact on the profitability of the Company. 
If the situation requires, the parent company is willing and has the ability to recapitalize the Company or can 
implement other measures to support the Company to continue as a going concern.  
 
The interest rate risk for the Company is limited as all lending activities are subject to fixed rates and the 
loans and debts have the same maturity date. 
 
Credit Risk 
Credit risk arises mainly from the lending activities of the Company where there is a possibility of incurring 
losses as a result of a default of a borrower. Since the lending activity is constrained within the Adecco Group, 
the implicit risk of the Company is the risk for the parent company, Adecco Group AG.  
 
As of December 31, 2019, the credit rating of Adecco Group AG is ‘BBB+’ (2018: ‘BBB+’), by Standard and 
Poor’s and ‘Baa1’ (2018: ‘Baa1’) by Moody’s, which is considered to be ‘strong investment grade’ by the 
market. Therefore, the risk of a credit loss on the group lending is limited.  
 
Furthermore, Adecco Group AG, as a beneficial owner of the Company, ensures that Adecco Group 
companies can meet their contractual and other obligations to third parties under the guarantee structure.  
 
Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk refers to the possibility of not being able to meet own payment obligations in full or when due. 
The Board of Directors believes that the ability to generate cash from operations combined with additional 
capital resources available is sufficient to support the existing business activities and to meet short and 
medium-term financial commitments. 
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Foreign exchange risk 
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the future cash flows of financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. It arises on financial instruments that are denominated in a foreign 
currency other than the functional currency which they are measured. The Company has foreign exchange 
risk arising from the USD bond issued in 2017. This risk is mitigated by lending on the proceeds to other 
Adecco Group companies in the same currency.   
 
Reporting and Compliance risks 
The complexity of the laws regulating public interest entities have increased in the last years, which means 
that the Company is subject to increased exposure to non-compliance, which could result in fines or 
reputational damage. 
 
Internal Control Systems 
The Company’s internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance to Adecco Group 
management and the Board of Directors regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation 
and fair presentation of its financial statements. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, 
have limitations.  
 
Furthermore, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that 
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with 
the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
 
Putting controls into practice 
There is a monthly result reporting and forecasting to Adecco Group AG. The Company submits a 
management representations letter quarterly that certifies that the corporate policies have been complied 
with and explains any exceptions or deviations that have occurred. In addition, the Company also submits a 
legal report that certifies that all applicable laws and regulations have been complied with. 
 
There is a quarterly business review meeting with the Board of Directors, where all aspects of the business 
are scrutinized and discussed with corporate departments, such as Group Treasury, Group Tax, Group Legal 
and Accounting Netherlands.  
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Corporate Social Responsibility 
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) is embedded within the Adecco Group’s policy and is based on the CSR 
Performance ladder level 3. The key principle is the basic right of all individuals to decent and safe work. This 
principle enables the Company to nurture the right conditions for maximum diversity in the workplace for 
training and education.  
 
The Company removes obstacles for those for whom access to employment is not (yet) an inevitable given. 
The Company establish partnerships with civil society organizations who hold the same work-related 
objectives as ourselves. We take our responsibility for our environment very seriously. Where possible 
concrete measures to reduce waste, energy consumption and pollution are taken.  
 

Key priorities are: 

• Excellence 
Contributing to the positive effects for the stakeholders and society. 

• Development of talent (Skills) 
Enhancing prospects for self-development, for everyone. 

• Integration 
Equal opportunities in the labor market, for everyone. 

• Prevention (Safety) 
Effective health and safety, proper conditions of work for everyone. 

 
The Adecco Group is constantly striving to match quality and capacity at work so that individuals can get the 
best out of themselves. The firm belief is that this will benefit the quality of life for the people who work via 
the Adecco Group. At the same time this has a positive effect on employers and society in general. In 
achieving this goal, less capacity will be lost as a result of the under or over-utilization of human capital. This 
vision ties in with a sustainable employment market.  
 

Management and Supervision Act (Wet Bestuur en Toezicht) 
As of January 1, 2013, the law ‘Wet Bestuur en Toezicht’, a new Management and Supervision Act came into 
effect. The new Act requires large-sized legal entities to have a balanced composition of their Board of 
Directors in terms of gender, with at least 30% of the seats occupied by women and at least 30% by men. 
 
The current composition of the Board of Directors deviates from the above mentioned percentages. With 
regard to future nominations and appointments, the Board of Directors will take the gender diversity 
objectives into account as much as possible.  
 
The members of the Board of Directors did not receive remuneration in 2019 (2018: nil) in their capacity as 
Board of Directors of the Company. 
 
The Board of Directors of the Company is composed as follows: 

• Hans Ploos van Amstel, director as of September 1, 2015; 

• Melvin de Boer, director as of January 9, 2018; 

• Robert Wolff, director as of May 1, 2019; 

• Rob van Dusseldorp, director as of June 1, 2019 
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Responsibility statement of the Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors confirms that internal controls over financial reporting provide a reasonable level of 
assurance that the financial reporting does not contain any material inaccuracies, and confirms that these 
controls functioned properly in the year under review and that there are no indications that they will not 
continue to do so. The financial statements fairly represent the Company’s financial condition and the results 
of the Company’s operations and provide the required disclosures. 
 
It should be noted that the above does not imply that these systems and procedures provide absolute 
assurance as to the realization of operational and strategic business objectives, or that they can prevent all 
misstatements, inaccuracies, errors, fraud and non-compliances with legislation rules and regulations. 
 
In accordance with Article 5.25c of the Financial Markets Supervisory Act, and in view of all of the above the 
Board of Directors confirms, that to its knowledge, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company and the financial statements include a 
fair review of the position at the balance sheet date and the development and performance of the business 
during the financial year together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the Company 
faces. 
 
 
March 31, 2020 
The Board of Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
Melvin de Boer      Rob van Dusseldorp 
 
 
 
 
 
Hans Ploos van Amstel     Robert Wolff 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2019 

Balance sheet 
(after proposed appropriation of result) 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  

Note EUR EUR EUR EUR

Non-current assets

Long-term loans to Group companies 4 1,552,225,077        1,250,539,495        

Total non-current assets 1,552,225,077       1,250,539,495       

Current assets

Receivables from Group companies 5 20,952,586              413,862,169           

Corporate income tax receivable 16 241,222                   222,389                   

Total current assets 21,193,808            414,084,558          

Cash

Cash 6 366,310                   422,947                   

Total cash 366,310                  422,947                  

Total assets 1,573,785,195 1,665,047,000 

Sharesholder's equity

Share capital 7 2,500,000                2,500,000                

Share premium 7 30,223,245              30,223,245              

Additional paid in capital 7 23,786,217              23,786,217              

Accumulated losses 7 (49,728,647)            (49,895,336)            

Total sharesholder's equity 6,780,815               6,614,126               

Non-current liabilities

Long-term liabilities, less current maturities 8 1,558,312,276        1,253,618,503        

Total non-current liabilities 1,558,312,276       1,253,618,503       

Current liabilities

Long-term liabilities - current portion 9 -                            399,723,986           

Payables to Group companies 10 6,044,720                1,704,080                

Interest payables to third parties 11 2,406,064                3,378,132                

Other payables 12 241,320                   8,173                        

Total current liabilities 8,692,104               404,814,371          

Total shareholder's equity and liabilities 1,573,785,195 1,665,047,000 

 Balance sheet as per 

December 31, 2018 

 Balance sheet as per 

December 31, 2019 
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Income statement 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  

Note EUR EUR EUR EUR

Financial income 13 40,065,023            48,441,116            

Financial expenses 14 (39,515,835)           (49,527,188)           

Financial result 549,188           (1,086,072)       

General and administrative expenses 15 (185,991)                 (165,064)                 

Result before taxation 363,197           (1,251,136)       

Deferred taxes 16 -                            6,946                        

Income taxes 16 (196,508)                  (321,568)                  

Total taxes (196,508)                 (314,622)                 

Result after taxation 166,689           (1,565,758)       

 Income statement 

over the year 2019 

 Income statement 

over the year 2018 
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Cash flow statement  
 

 
The cash flow statement has been prepared in accordance with the direct method. The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial 
statements.   

EUR EUR EUR EUR

Operating activities

Operating expenses (156,283)                  (340,589)                  

Interest received 26,590,249              45,131,644              

Interest paid (29,833,270)            (54,363,447)            

Financing and guarantee fees paid (6,978,313)               (11,245,580)            

Taxes paid (VAT) (64,857)                    -                            

Taxes paid (current income tax) (215,341)                  (466,061)                  

Cash flow used in operating activities (10,657,815)     (21,284,033)     

Investing activities

Issuance of Long-term loans to Group companies (295,813,000)          -                            

Issuance of Short-term loans to Group companies (15,600,000)            (800,000)                  

Collection of Short-term loans to Group companies 420,927,021           522,870,784           

Cash flow from investing activities 109,514,021    522,070,784    

Financing activities

Proceeds from the issuance of long-term liabilities 297,438,000           -                            

Received short-term loans from Group companies 5,350,000                1,700,000                

Repayment of Long-term liabilities (400,000,000)          (500,000,000)          

Repayment of Short-term loans from Group companies (1,700,000)               (2,863,360)               

Issuance of commercial paper -                            370,528,239           

Repayment of commercial paper -                            (370,000,000)          

Cash flow used in financing activities (98,912,000)     (500,635,121)   

Net cash flow (55,794)            151,630           

Exchange rate differences on cash (843)                 2,533               

Change in cash (56,637)            154,163           

Cash at beginning of year 422,947                  268,784                  

Cash at end of year 366,310                  422,947                  

Change in cash (56,637)            154,163           

 Cash flow statement

over the year 2019 

 Cash flow statement

over the year 2018 
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Notes to the financial statements 
 

1. General 
Adecco International Financial Services B.V. (the ‘Company’) was incorporated on March 1, 2006 as a private 
limited liability company, with its registered seat in Utrecht, the Netherlands, having its head office at 
Hogeweg 123, 5301 LL Zaltbommel, the Netherlands. Registered with the Chamber of Commerce with 
number: 30212925. The Company is governed by the Netherlands law. 
 
The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Adecco Group AG, Zurich, Switzerland. Adecco Group AG is 
registered in Switzerland and listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange 
 
The principal activity of the Company is to act as financial company of the Group. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis in conformity with Part 9 of book 2 
of the Dutch Civil Code.  
 
The financial statements of the Company will be filed at the Trade Register of the Chamber of Commerce in 
Utrecht, the Netherlands, after adoption by the General Meeting of Shareholders. 
 
The financial statements of the Company are included in the consolidated financial statements of Adecco 
Group AG. Copies of the consolidated financial statements are available at the head office of the parent 
company. 
 
 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
The principal accounting policies adopted in preparing the financial statements of the Company are as 
follows: 
 
a) Basis of presentation 

The financial statements are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of Title 9, Book 2 of the Dutch 
Civil Code and the firm pronouncements in the Dutch Accounting Standards, as published by the Dutch 
Accounting Standards Board (‘Raad voor de Jaarverslaggeving’).  
 
The accounting principles applied to the valuation of assets and liabilities and the determination of 
results in these financial statements are based on the assumption of continuity of the Company. 
 
Assets and liabilities are generally measured at historical cost or at fair value at the time of acquisition. 
The balance sheet and profit and loss account contain references. These refer to the disclosures in the 
financial statements.  
 

b) Use of estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Dutch GAAP requires management to make 
judgements, assumptions, and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements 
and accompanying notes. On an on-going basis, management evaluates its estimates which is related to 
the allowance for doubtful accounts. 
 
The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other market-specific 
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The results of these estimates 
form the basis for making judgements about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. Actual results differ from those estimates. 
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c) Reporting currency 
Items included in the financial statements of Company are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the Company operates (the functional currency) and reflects the 
significance of the Company’s Euro-dominated operations. The financial statements are presented in 
euros (EUR), which is the functional and presentation currency of the Company. 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are stated in the financial statements at the exchange rate of the 
functional currency on the transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are 
converted to the closing rate of the functional currency on the balance sheet date. The translation 
differences resulting from settlement and conversion are credited or charged to the income statement. 

 
d) Related parties 

All legal entities, natural persons and other related companies which can control the Company are 
considered to be a related party. In addition, statutory directors, other key management of the Company 
or the parent company and close relatives are regarded as related parties. 
 
Transactions with related parties are disclosed in the notes insofar as they are not transacted under 
normal market conditions. The nature, extent and other information is disclosed if this is necessary in 
order to provide the true and fair view. 

 
e) Long-term assets 

Long-terms assets are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction cost and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.  
 
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that the loans to 
Group companies is impaired. If any such evidence exists, the impairment loss is determined and 
recognised in the income statement. 
 
The amount of an impairment loss incurred on loans to Group companies stated at amortised cost is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition).  
 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss shall be reversed.  
 
The reversal shall not result in a carrying amount of the financial asset that exceeds what the amortised 
cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. 
The amount of the reversal shall be recognised through income statement. 
 
The balances of loans to Group companies that are expected to be recovered or collected more than 
twelve months after the reporting date are presented as non-current assets. 

 
f) Current assets 

Short terms loans to Group companies are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction cost and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Corporate income tax receivable and other (group) 
receivables are stated at nominal value. The interest receivables from Group companies are stated at 
amortised cost (which generally equals nominal value). 
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g) Cash 
Cash is stated at nominal value. The cash balance at the year-end represents cash held at banks at the 
free disposal of the Company. 

 
h) Shareholder’s equity 

Share capital, comprising of common shares, is classified as equity and is stated as nominal value. Share 
premium includes consideration received in excess of the par value on the issuance of share capital. 
Additional paid-in capital pertains to the amounts received from the parent Company after the issuance 
of share to ensure to strengthen the equity position of the Company. 
 

i) Long-term liabilities 
Long-term liabilities are recognised initiaIIy at fair value, net of transaction cost and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.  
 
The difference between stated book value and the mature redemption value is accounted for as interest 
cost in the income statement on the basis of the effective interest rate during the estimated term of the 
long-term debts. 
 
The amounts to be paid more than twelve months after the reporting date are presented as non-current 
liabilities. 
 

j) Current liabilities 
Short terms Ioans from Group companies are recognised initiaIIy at fair value, net of transaction cost and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. The interest payables, other (group) payables, accrued and 
other liabilities are recognised at amortised cost (which generally equals nominal value). 
 

k) Determination of the result 
Interest income and expenses are recognised on a pro rata basis, taking account of the effective interest 
rate of the assets and liabilities to which they relate. In accounting for interest expenses, the recognised 
transaction expenses for loans received are taken into consideration.  
 
General and administrative expenses are determined on a historical basis and are attributed to the 
reporting year to which they relate. Expenses incurred in the direction and general administration of day-
to-day operations of the Company and are generally recognised when the service is used or the expense 
arises. 

 
l) Income taxes 

Taxes are based on tax rulings concluded with the Dutch Tax Authorities and the (fiscal) operating 
expenses as disclosed in the income statement and are stated at nominal value. The effective tax rate 
applied will differ from the nominal tax rate of 25.0% (2018: 25.0%). 
 
 

m) Cash flow statement 
The cash flow statement has been prepared in accordance with the direct method.  
 
Consolidated cash flows for the entire group are included in the Adecco Group AG consolidated financial 
statements. A separate cash flow statement for the Company is not required by Dutch law. To be in line 
with the practice in the capital market, the Company prepares a cash flow statement, using the direct 
method. 
 
In previous years, the Company applied indirect method in presenting cash flows. The change of method 
does not have any effect on the figures. 
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The cash items included in the cash flow statement consists of current accounts maintained with local 
banks. Cash flows denominated in foreign currencies have been translated at average exchange rates 
and exchange differences affecting the cash balance is included in the respective amounts.  
 
Cash from loans granted to group companies are included in investing activities. Cash from borrowings 
including additional paid-in capital are included in the financing activities. Interest received and paid and 
all other movements in the cash balance are included in operating activities. 
 
 

3. Risk disclosure 
This risk paragraph is a copy of the risk management paragraph as reported in the Board of Directors’ Report. 
 
The purpose of the Company is to provide flexible financing to companies within the Adecco Group. The risks 
for the Company are mainly financing risks. The Company issues bonds and commercial paper program loans, 
and the proceeds are lent to other Adecco Group companies as long- and short-term loans. 
 
The risk profile has not changed significantly in the last years. The Company has classified its risk into two 
categories: 

• Financial risks and; 

• Reporting and Compliance risks 
 
The company continuously monitors the risks within both categories. The Company’s risks and uncertainties 
(the risk appetite) is limited for each risk category. The level of the Company’s risk appetite gives guidance as 
to whether the Company would take measures to control such uncertainties. 
 
The risk appetite is further clarified in the section below. 
 
Financial risks 
Market Risk / Price Risk 
The Company is exposed to market/price risk, especially the interest rate risk on loans to Adecco Group 
companies. The intercompany loan extensions will be renegotiated considering current market interest rates 
which may be different compared to the rate upon issuance of the bond.  
 
The possibility exists that intercompany loans will bear a lower interest rate than the initial intercompany 
loan entered into upon issuance of the bond which will have an impact on the profitability of the Company. 
If the situation requires, the parent company is willing and has the ability to recapitalize the Company or can 
implement other measures to support the Company to continue as a going concern.  
 
The interest rate risk for the Company is limited as all lending activities are subject to fixed rates and the 
loans and debts have the same maturity date. 
 
Credit Risk 
Credit risk arises mainly from the lending activities of the Company where there is a possibility of incurring 
losses as a result of a default of a borrower. Since the lending activity is constrained within the Adecco Group, 
the implicit risk of the Company is the risk for the parent company, Adecco Group AG.  
 
As of December 31, 2019, the credit rating of Adecco Group AG is ‘BBB+’ (2018: ‘BBB+’), by Standard and 
Poor’s and ‘Baa1’ (2018: ‘Baa1’) by Moody’s, which is considered to be ‘strong investment grade’ by the 
market. Therefore, the risk of a credit loss on the group lending is limited.  
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Furthermore, Adecco Group AG, as a beneficial owner of the Company, ensures that Adecco Group 
companies can meet their contractual and other obligations to third parties under the guarantee structure.  
 
Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk refers to the possibility of not being able to meet own payment obligations in full or when due. 
The Board of Directors believes that the ability to generate cash from operations combined with additional 
capital resources available is sufficient to support the existing business activities and to meet short and 
medium-term financial commitments. 
 
Foreign exchange risk 
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the future cash flows of financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. It arises on financial instruments that are denominated in a foreign 
currency other than the functional currency which they are measured. The Company has foreign exchange 
risk arising from the USD bond issued in 2017. This risk is mitigated by lending on the proceeds to other 
Adecco Group companies in the same currency.   
 
Reporting and Compliance risks 
The complexity of the laws regulating public interest entities have increased in the last years, which means 
that the Company is subject to increased exposure to non-compliance, which could result in fines or 
reputational damage. 
 
Internal Control Systems 
The Company’s internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance to Adecco Group 
management and the Board of Directors regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation 
and fair presentation of its financial statements. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, 
have limitations.  
 
Furthermore, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that 
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with 
the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
 
Putting controls into practice 
There is a monthly result reporting and forecasting to Adecco Group AG. The Company submits a 
management representations letter quarterly that certifies that the corporate policies have been complied 
with and explains any exceptions or deviations that have occurred. In addition, the Company also submits a 
legal report that certifies that all applicable laws and regulations have been complied with. 
 
There is a quarterly business review meeting with the Board of Directors, where all aspects of the business 
are scrutinized and discussed with corporate departments, such as Group Treasury, Group Tax, Group Legal 
and Accounting Netherlands.  
  



Adecco International Financial Services B.V.                    Annual Report 2019 

  

Page 17 
 

4. Long-term loans to Group companies 
The long-term loans to Group companies can be detailed as follows: 
 

 
*   Transfers of loans relate to loans maturing within twelve months after balance sheet date and have been reclassed from long-term loans to short-

term loans as per the balance sheet date. 

** The long-term loan to Adecco Secad Ltd, Bermuda / Adecco Group AG, Switzerland is stated in USD and is impacted by the foreign exchange rate. 

The FX revaluation is  shown at Adecco Group AG, Switzerland who took over the loan from Adecco Secad Ltd, Bermuda. 

 

 
*   Transfers of loans relate to loans maturing in 2018 and have been reclassed from long-term loans to short-term loans as per the balance sheet date. 

** The long-term loan to Adecco Secad Ltd, Bermuda is stated in USD and is impacted by the foreign exchange rate. 

 
 

5. Receivables from Group companies 
The receivables from Group companies can be detailed as follows: 

 
 

6. Cash 
Cash is stated at nominal value. The cash balance at the year-end represents cash held at banks and is readily 
available. 
  

01-01-2019 31-12-2019
Interest 

rate

Opening balance Additions / 

FX revaluations

Redemption / 

Transfers *

Amortisation Closing balance

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR

Adecco Secad Ltd, Bermuda 2.400% 497,250,000            (497,250,000)      -                           

Adecco Refinancing B.V., The Netherlands 1.600% 167,154,000            167,154,000          

Adecco Refinancing B.V., The Netherlands 1.431% 199,867,000            199,867,000          

Adecco Refinancing B.V., The Netherlands 1.680% 127,539,000            127,539,000          

Adecco Secad Ltd, Bermuda ** 3.525% 258,729,495            (258,729,495)      -                           

Adecco Group AG, Switzerland 1.897% -                             83,751,069          83,751,069            

Adecco Group AG, Switzerland ** 3.525% -                             5,872,582            258,729,495        264,602,077          

Adecco Invest SA, Switzerland 2.400% -                             497,250,000        497,250,000          

Adecco Refinancing B.V., The Netherlands 1.486% -                             212,061,931        212,061,931          

1,250,539,495   301,685,582   -                 -                   1,552,225,077 

Group Company

Long-term loans to Group companies

01-01-2018 31-12-2018
Interest 

rate

Opening balance Additions / 

FX revaluations

Redemption / 

Transfers *

Amortisation Closing balance

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR

Adecco Beteiligungs GmbH, Germany 3.630% 98,444,000              (98,444,000)         -                           

Adecco Coordination Center S.A., Luxembourg 5.000% 307,467,881            (307,467,881)      -                           

Adecco Secad Ltd, Bermuda 2.400% 497,250,000            497,250,000          

Adecco Refinancing B.V., The Netherlands 1.600% 167,154,000            167,154,000          

Adecco Refinancing B.V., The Netherlands 1.431% 199,867,000            199,867,000          

Adecco Refinancing B.V., The Netherlands 1.680% 127,539,000            127,539,000          

Adecco Secad Ltd, Bermuda ** 3.525% 247,172,427            11,557,068          258,729,495          

1,644,894,308   11,557,068     (405,911,881) -                   1,250,539,495 Long-term loans to Group companies

Group Company

31-12-2019 31-12-2018
EUR EUR

Short-term loans to Group companies 15,600,000            405,542,413          

Interest receivables from Group companies 5,352,586               7,191,784               

Other receivables from Group companies -                           1,127,972               

20,952,586      413,862,169    Receivables from Group companies
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7. Shareholder’s equity 
The authorized share capital amounts to EUR 12,500,000 divided into 12,500 shares, each with a nominal 
value of EUR 1,000. As of December 31, 2019, there were 2,500 shares registered and fully paid in. 
 

 
 

 
These financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the result for the year will be added to 
accumulated losses account. A proposal will be made at the General Meeting of Shareholders. 
 
 

8. Long-term liabilities 
The long-term liabilities can be detailed as follows: 

 
*  2017 Bond is stated in USD and is impacted by the foreign exchange rate. This revaluation is included in the data as per 31-12-2019. 

 
All bonds are listed at the London Stock Exchange, United Kingdom. 
 
On May 20, 2019, the Company issued a loan to Adecco Refinancing B.V. The proceeds were used by Adecco 
Refinancing B.V. to initiate the bond buyback program which was launched by the Adecco Group.  
 
As a result of this buyback, Adecco Refinancing B.V. is holding EUR 152,250,000 of the 2015-2022 bond. 
 

Share capital Share premium Additional paid in 

capital

Accumulated 

losses

Total

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR

2,500,000                 30,223,245          23,786,217          (49,895,336)           6,614,126               

-                             -                         -                         166,689                  166,689                  

2,500,000          30,223,245     23,786,217     (49,728,647)     6,780,815        

Shareholder's equity 2019

Shareholder's equity January 1, 2019

Result after taxation

Shareholder's equity December 31, 2019

31-12-2019 31-12-2018
Interest rate Maturity EUR EUR

1.250% 2029 300,000,000          -                           

(3,076,304)             -                           

2.625% 2021 267,558,600          261,620,400          

(1,355,061)             (2,047,719)             

1.000% 2024 500,000,000          500,000,000          

(3,816,544)             (4,592,800)             

1.500% 2022 500,000,000          500,000,000          

(998,415)                 (1,361,378)             

Long-term liabilities, less current maturities 1,558,312,276 1,253,618,503 

Nominal value bond issued 2019 300M EUR

Group Company

Nominal value bond issued 2017 300M USD *

Issuance discount and costs

Issuance discount and costs *

Nominal value bond issued 2016 500M EUR

Nominal value bond issued 2015 500M EUR

Issuance discount and costs

Issuance discount and costs
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Bond 2013-2019 
On July 16, 2013, the Company issued EUR 400,000,000 fixed rate bond guaranteed by the parent company, 
due November 15, 2019 (6-year 122 days bond). The interest is paid on the fixed rate bond annually in arrears 
at a fixed annual rate of 2.750%, the effective interest rate is 2.770%. The net proceeds, EUR 398,444,000, 
were used for general purposes of the Adecco Group. A call option has been used to mature the bond in 
August 2019.  
 
Bond 2015-2022 
On May 18, 2015, the Company issued EUR 500,000,000 fixed rate bond guaranteed by the parent company, 
due November 22, 2022 (7-year 184 days bond). The interest is paid on the fixed rate bond annually in arrears 
at a fixed annual rate of 1.500%, the effective interest rate is 1.509%. 
 
Bond 2016-2024 
On December 2, 2016, the Company issued EUR 500,000,000 fixed rate bond guaranteed by the parent 
company, due December 2, 2024 (8-year bond). The interest is paid on the fixed rate bond annually in arrears 
at a fixed annual rate of 1.000%, the effective interest rate is 1.110%. The issuance fee related to the bond is  
EUR 471,810. The net proceeds, EUR 494,560,000, were partially used for the bond buyback program of the 
Adecco Group. 
 
Bond 2017-2021 
On November 21, 2017, the Company issued USD 300,000,000 (equivalent to EUR 267,558,000 as per 
December 31, 2019 revalued balance; equivalent to EUR 261,620,400 as per December 31, 2018 revalued 
balance) fixed rate bond guaranteed by the parent company, due November 21, 2021 (4-year bond). The 
Company as the issuer has an option to redeem the bond at any point within the term of the instrument. 
 
The interest is paid on the fixed rate bond annually in arrears at a fixed annual rate of 2.625%, the effective 
interest rate is 2,803%. The issuance fee related to the bond is EUR 260,162. The net proceeds were used for 
general purposes of the Adecco Group. 
 
Bond 2019-2029 
On May 20, 2019, the Company issued EUR 300,000,000 fixed rate bond guaranteed by the parent company, 
due November 20, 2029 (10.5-year bond). The Company as the issuer has an option to redeem the bond 
during period commencing three months prior to the maturity date. The interest is paid on the fixed rate 
bond annually in arrears at a fixed annual rate of 1.250%, the effective interest rate is 1.307%. The issuance 
fee related to the bond is EUR 1,605,000. The net proceeds, EUR 297,438,000, were partially used for the 
bond buyback program of the Adecco Group and for general financing purposes. 
  

31-12-2019 31-12-2018
EUR EUR

1,367,563,600       1,476,041,400       

199,995,000          185,579,000          

1,567,558,600 1,661,620,400 Nominal amounts held by participants after buyback programm

Third parties

Group companies

Nominal amounts held by participants after buyback programm
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9. Long-term liabilities – current portion 
The current portion of long-term liabilities can be detailed as follows: 

 
*  2013 Bond will mature in 2019 and has been reclassed from long-term debt to current portion of long-term debt as per 31-12-2018. 

 
 

10.  Payables to Group companies 
The payables to Group companies can be detailed as follows: 

 
The short-term loan from Group companies of EUR 5,350,000 has an interest rate of 0.065% and will mature 
in December 2020 (2018: loan of EUR 1,700,000 had an interest rate of 0.212% and matured in December 
2019). 
 
 

11.  Interest payables to third parties 
The interest payables to third parties of EUR 2,406,064 (2018: EUR 3,378,132) relates to the interest accrued 
and not yet paid on the fixed rate bonds. The amount of interest payables to third parties decreased 
compared to 2018 as the 2013 Bond matured in August 2019 and the coupon is paid in August 2019 together 
with the repayment of the bond (interest rate 2.750%). A new bond has been issued in May 2019 with an 
interest rate of 1.250%. The coupon is each year paid in November and December.  
 
 

12.  Other payables 
The amount of other payables relates for 2019 to EUR 227,878 Value Added Tax (VAT) to pay and accrued 
expenses of EUR 13,443 (2018: EUR 8,173). 
 
 

13.  Financial income 
The financial income can be detailed as follows: 

 
* For 2018 the amount of other financing fees relates to the negative interest on commercial paper, which is actually a financial income so reclassed 
from financial expenses to financial income compared to Financial Statements 2018. 

 

31-12-2019 31-12-2018
Interest rate Maturity EUR EUR

2.750% 2019 -                           400,000,000          

-                           (276,014)                 

-                   399,723,986    

Issuance discount and costs

Group Company

Nominal value bond issued 2013 400M EUR *

Current portion of long-term debt

31-12-2019 31-12-2018
EUR EUR

5,350,000               1,700,000               

291                          280                          

694,429                  3,800                       

6,044,720        1,704,080        

Other payables to Group companies

Short-term loans from Group companies

Payables to Group companies

Interest payables to Group companies

2019 2018
EUR EUR

40,065,023            48,040,254            

-                           379,867                  

-                           20,995                    

40,065,023      48,441,116      

Foreign exchange gain

Financial income

Other financing income *

Interest income from Group companies
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14.  Financial expenses 

 
* For 2019 the amount of other financing fees relates to VAT expenses and other bond issuance expenses. 

 
 

15.  General and administrative expenses 
The general and administrative expenses can be detailed as follows: 

 
 

16.  Taxes 
Deferred taxes 
Due to the tender in April 2011 a loss was recognised. Exchange premium and issuance fee expenses are 
expensed over the life of the 7-year bond resulting in a deferred tax position in the income statement of  EUR 
6,946  for 2018. As the bond matured in 2018 there is no deferred tax for 2019. 
 
Income taxes 
The total current income tax payable as of December 31, 2019 is EUR nil (2018: nil) and the total expense in 
the income statement is EUR 196,508 (2018: EUR 314,622). As the preliminary tax assessment was higher 
than the year end calculation the Company has an income tax receivable of EUR 241,222 at December 31, 
2019 (2018: EUR 222,389). 
 
The effective tax rate is 54.11% (2018: -25.15%) leading to a difference with the domestic income tax rate of 
25%. This is caused by the Advanced Price Agreements (APA) which are in place, resulting in a difference 
between the commercial and fiscal result.  
 
 

17.  Employees 
During 2019, the Company had no employees (2018: no employees). 
 
  

2019 2018
EUR EUR

(2,345,056)             (2,957,149)             

(296,900)                 -                           

(36,859,154)           (46,568,905)           

(1,673)                     (1,134)                     

(13,052)                   -                           

(39,515,835)     (49,527,188)     

Amortization discount and fees

Other financing fees *

Interest and similar expenses

Interest expense from Group companies

Financial expenses

Foreign exchange loss

2019 2018
EUR EUR

(88,847)                   (87,758)                   

(22,800)                   (50,731)                   

(16,981)                   (21,070)                   

(57,363)                   (5,505)                     

(185,991)          (165,064)          General and administrative expenses

Tax consulting and audit expenses

Recharged staff expenses from Adecco Holding Europe B.V., The Netherlands

Banking expenses

Other operating expenses
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18.  Related party transactions 
In the normal course of business, the Company has transactions with related parties as follows: 

a) Loans granted to Group companies are EUR 1,567,825,077 (2018: 1,656,081,908). The related 
accrued interest receivable are EUR 5,352,586 (2018: 7,191,784) and are disclosed in notes 4 and 5. 
In 2019, the management has assessed that no impairment loss needs to be recognised during the 
year (2018: nil). 

b) As of December 31, 2019, the balance of other receivables from Group companies is nil (2018: EUR 
1,127,972) and is disclosed in note 5. The amount of 2018 relates to an overpayment on the 
guarantee fees paid to Adecco Group AG. This amount has been settled in 2019. 

c) As of December 31, 2019, the balance of loans obtained from Group companies is EUR 5,350,00 
(2018: EUR 1,700,000) with accrued interest payable of EUR 291 (2018: EUR 280). This is disclosed in 
note 10. 

d) As of December 31, 2019, the balance of other payables to Group companies is EUR 694,429 (2018: 
EUR 3,800) and is disclosed in note 10. The amount of 2019 relates to the guarantee fees to be paid 
to Adecco Group AG (due in Q4 2020). The amount of 2018 is for the monthly recharge of salary costs 
from Adecco Holding Europe (November - December 2018). This balance is paid in 2018 and also the 
full year 2019 has been paid in 2019. 

e) Interest income from Group companies (financial income) is EUR 40,065,023 (2018: EUR 48,040,254) 
and is disclosed in note 13. 

f) In 2019, a guarantee fee (financial expenses) of EUR 8,054,798 (2018: EUR 9,702,209) is charged by 
Adecco Group AG for the underwriting of the bonds( and commercial paper in 2018). This is disclosed 
in note 13 in the interest and similar expenses. 

g) Interest expense from Group companies (financial expenses) is EUR 1,673 (2018: EUR 1,134) and is 
disclosed in note 13. 

h) Recharged staff expenses from Group companies is EUR 22,800 (2018: EUR 50,731) and is disclosed 
in note 15. 

 
 

19.  Fair value non-derivative financial instruments 
The following table shows the carrying value and the fair value of non-derivative financial instruments as of 
December 31, 2019 and 2018. 
 

 

31-12-2019 31-12-2019 31-12-2018 31-12-2018
EUR EUR EUR EUR

Carrying value Fair value Carrying value Fair value

1,552,225,077    1,656,961,266    1,250,539,495       1,307,052,310       

15,600,000          15,641,422          405,542,413          420,362,201          

5,352,586            5,352,586            7,191,784               7,191,784               

-                         -                         1,127,972               1,127,972               

366,310                366,310                422,947                  422,947                  

1,558,312,276    1,629,153,115    1,253,618,503       1,277,896,902       

-                         -                         399,723,986          407,120,000          

5,350,000            5,365,169            1,700,000               1,704,578               

291                        291                        280                          280                          

2,406,064            2,406,064            3,378,132               3,378,132               

694,429                694,429                3,800                       3,800                       

241,320                241,320                8,173                       8,173                       

Non-current liabilities

Non-current assets

Long-term loans to Group companies

Current assets

Short-term loans to Group companies

Interest receivables from Group companies

Fair value non-derivative financial instruments

Interest payables to Group companies

Interest payables to third parties

Other payables to Group companies

Other payables

Long-term debt, less current maturities

Current liabilities

Long-term liabilities - current portion

Short-term loans from Group companies

Other receivables from Group companies

Cash
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The fair value is presented at LAST / MID prices. In the financial statements 2018 the fair value of loans has 
been presented at BID price while for the financial statements of this year the Company has used the 
LAST/MID price to align to Group policies. For this reason the comparative figures 2018 have been adjusted 
to LAST / MID prices. 
 
The fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. If no fair value can be readily and reliably 
established, fair value is approximated by deriving it from the fair value of components or of a comparable 
financial instrument, or by approximating fair value using valuation models and valuation techniques.  
 
Valuation techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions between knowledgeable, willing 
parties, if available, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, 
discounted cash flow analysis and/or option pricing models, making allowance for entity-specific inputs. 
 
The Company uses the following methods to estimate the fair value of each class of non-derivative financial 
instruments: 
 

• Long and short term loans to – from Group companies  
To calculate the fair market value of loans to Group companies, the discounted cash flow method was 
applied. Starting from the scheduled interest and principal payments set forth in the loan contracts each 
individual loan is valued by discounting the remaining interest and principal payments with the relevant 
interest rate as of valuation date.  
 

• Long-term liabilities including the current portion 
The fair value of the Company’s publicly traded long-term liabilities, including accrued interest, is estimated 
using quoted market prices on last trade during the year. 
 

• Other financial instruments  
The carrying amounts approximate fair value primarily due to the relatively short-term maturities of these 
financial instruments. 
 
 

20.  Audit fees  
The total audit fees for 2019 are EUR 44,000 excluding VAT (2018: EUR 44,000 excluding VAT). Fees are 
related to the assurance assignments of the Company, no other services are rendered. 
 
 

21.  Remuneration of the Board of Directors  
The members of the Board of Directors did not receive remuneration in 2019 (2018: nil) in their capacity as 
Directors of the Company. 
 
 

22.  Cross border listings 
The Company has issued bonds that are listed on the London Stock Exchange. 
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23.  Subsequent events  
No significant events between the balance sheet date and the date of approval of the financial statements 
2019 occurred that would require adjustments in the reported figures nor additional disclosure in the 
financial statements. 
 
The on-going coronavirus/COVID-19 outbreak across the globe prompted government authorities to adopt 
containment measures that have disrupted the local economies. In the context of COVID-19, the 
management has reviewed its management forecast and, more importantly for the near term, its liquidity 
forecast. The Board of Directors expects the direct impact on the operation of the Company to be limited. 
Among the outstanding bonds of the Company, the earliest maturity date is on November 21, 2021.  
 
Although there is also no immediate direct impact on the operation of the Company, the parent Company is 
willing and has cash balance (due to the closure of the Soliant divestiture end of December 2019) and an 
revolving credit facility that can, when necessary, support the borrowers to cope with adverse effects of this 
pandemic and to meet their financial obligation to the Company. 
 
The management will carefully monitor the situation and will take appropriate actions, when necessary. 
 
 
 
March 31, 2020 
The Board of Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
Melvin de Boer      Rob van Dusseldorp 
 
 
 
 
 
Hans Ploos van Amstel     Robert Wolff 
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OTHER INFORMATION 
 

Appropriation of result 
The Articles of Association of the Company provide that the appropriation of the net result for the year is 
decided upon at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. 
 
The Company may make distributions of profit only to the extent that its shareholders’ equity exceeds the 
sum of the amount of the paid up and called up part of the capital and the reserves which must be maintained 
by law; any distribution of profits shall be made after the adoption of the Annual Accounts from which it shall 
appear that the same is permitted. 
 

Auditor’s report 
See next page.  
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